Parent Perceptions of Full Inclusion for their Children with	ith Disabilitie	es
--	-----------------	----

Meggan C. Cooper

A thesis submitted to Dr. Derek H. Berg, Kelly Humphries, and the Office of Graduate

Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts in School Psychology

Faculty of Education

Mount Saint Vincent University

September 2008

Copyright © Meggan Cooper, 2008

ABSTRACT

This study examined parent perceptions of full inclusion in the school system, and perceived impacts of this practice on their child with disabilities. Participants whose children were in either preschool or school settings were compared across perception variables (e.g., overall view of full inclusion, perceived effectiveness of this practice, and preferred level of inclusion for their child). Results indicated not all parents endorsed the full inclusion of their child in general education. While approximately half of all parents reported positive views of full inclusion and preferred full-time inclusion placements for their child, a significant number of parents indicated a preference for part-time inclusion (1 to 4 hours per school day).

In addition, parents of younger children had more positive views of full inclusion. Those parents who reported higher levels of education in the household, agreed more strongly that their child's academic and behavioural needs could be met in a full inclusion classroom, and were satisfied with the acceptance of their child by school peers, were more likely to prefer full-time inclusion placements. Negative views and ratings of effectiveness were associated with concerns regarding class size and feeling limited by educational options. As well, the more severe parents rated their child's disability, the less effective they believed full inclusion would be in meeting their child's needs. Findings are discussed within the context of the literature on parent perceptions of inclusion.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Appreciation is extended to Dr. Derek Berg, whose steadfast guidance and support throughout this project sustained my focus. As well, my sincerest gratitude is offered to Kelly Humphries for her insight, Patricia Morse for her support during data collection, and each parent who took the time to participate in this study. I also must not neglect to thank Dr. P and Beaker. Just because I can't.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
CHAPTER ONE	6
INTRODUCTION	6
CHAPTER TWO	9
LITERATURE REVIEW	9
Perceived Social Benefits of Inclusion	10
Parent Concerns	10
Parent Perceptions of Inclusion	11
Type of Disability	16
Severity of the Disability	18
The Current Study	24
CHAPTER THREE	24
METHOD	26
Research Design	27
Participants	27
Instrumentation	28
Procedure	32
Data Analysis	32
CHAPTER FOUR	34
RESULTS	34
Participants	34
Preschool Group	36
In-school Group	37
Data Analysis	38
Views of Full Inclusion, Perceived Effectiveness, and Preferred Level of Inclusion	38
General Views of Full Inclusion	38
Perceived Effectiveness of Full Inclusion	40
Preferred Level of Inclusion	
Parent Values and Relationship with Perceptions of Full Inclusion	40
Parents' Perceived Impacts of Full Inclusion on their Child	43
Curriculum and Instruction	43
Availability of Special Staff Resources	
Social Environment and Emotional Development	46
In-school Parents' Perceived Level of Satisfaction with Educational Variables	
Beliefs about Effectiveness and Concerns about Full Inclusion	47
Correlational Analyses	
View of Full Inclusion, Perceived Effectiveness, and Preferred Level of Inclusio	
Demographic Variables and Perceptions of Full Inclusion	
School Satisfaction and Perceptions of Full Inclusion	
Beliefs, Concerns and Perceptions of Full Inclusion	
CHAPTER FIVE	
DISCUSSION	
Differences between Preschool and In-school Parent Perceptions of Full inclusion	59

Factors related to Parent Perceptions of Full Inclusion	612
Demographic Variables	63
Level of Satisfaction with Educational Program and School Outcomes	
Parent Values and Perceptions of Full Inclusion	67
Limitations	68
Implications	70
REFERENCES	74
Appendix A: letter of informed consent – director	79
Appendix b: letter of informed consent – parent	
Appendix c: preschool questionnaire	81
Appendix d: in-school questionnaire	

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

The full inclusion of children with disabilities in the public education system remains a prominent issue of debate among policy makers and educators (Kavale & Forness, 2000; Turnbull, Turnbull, Shank, Smith, & Leal, 2002). Full inclusion refers to students with disabilities being educated in the same setting as their typically developing peers on a full-time basis, with the provision of appropriate support services (Zinkil & Gilbert, 2000). The philosophical argument for full inclusion is a persuasive one, but is constrained by practical limitations and concerns regarding implementation. Three primary issues fuel this debate.

The first issue relates to the efficacy of full inclusion and whether it is effective in supporting optimal educational outcomes for all students. Second is the question of responsibility. Determining who should be responsible for developing the curriculum, delivering instruction, and evaluating student progress are primary concerns of those involved in the full inclusion debate. Finally are the issues of efficiency and feasibility. These issues relate to whether full inclusion is the most productive use of educational resources, and whether it is practical for students with disabilities to receive proper instruction and support in the context of a regular classroom (Osgood, 2005). Translating the philosophy of full inclusion into practice has resulted in a wide variation in the implementation of inclusive practices and concern from key participants such as parents (Leyser & Kirk, 2004).

Although students with disabilities and their parents are arguably the groups most impacted by decisions related to full inclusion, it has been contended that these

individuals are routinely excluded from the inclusion debate (Davies, 1989). For example, most research on perceptions of inclusion has focused on teachers' views of this practice (e.g., Scruggs & Mastropieri, 1996). However, provincial policy emphasizes the role of parents. In Nova Scotia, "parents... have a right and a responsibility to... participate in [educational] decisions that affect their children" (Nova Scotia Department of Education and Culture, 1996). Issues associated with full inclusion have significant implications for children with disabilities, such as where they will be educated, by whom they will be educated, and what access they will have to educational resources and opportunities (Osgood, 2005; Valentine, 2001). Due to these implications for children with disabilities, it should be understood that their parents have a right to participate in decisions regarding full inclusion. In addition, it is well documented that for any educational movement to succeed, parental support and involvement are essential (Erwin & Soodak, 1995; Grove & Fisher, 1999).

Parental support is viewed as necessary for the successful adoption of any educational reform and is a critical factor in the effective implementation of inclusive educational practices in schools (Bennet, Deluca, & Bruns, 1997). Parents have the ability to affect directly and indirectly an educational movement's potential for success by influencing their children, school board authorities and district members, as well as refusing to participate, advocating against, and taking legal action against such proposals (Cook & Swain, 2001; Fox & Ysseldyke, 1997). Ultimately, lack of support from parents can interfere with the successful adoption and effectiveness of full inclusion.

Although their role and influence in determining educational policy has been emphasized, parent views of full inclusion have been largely unaccounted for in the literature. It is therefore imperative to understand parent perspectives regarding full

inclusion, which was the essential objective of the current study. Namely, this study sought to explore parent perceptions of full inclusion for children with disabilities, as well as factors that inform their perspectives.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

Overall, parental perceptions of inclusion are mixed. Although most parents of children with disabilities support this practice from a conceptual standpoint, many report significant concerns regarding the potential negative effects of inclusion on their child (Leyser & Kirk, 2004; Palmer, Borthwick-Duffy, & Widaman, 1998; Palmer, Fuller, Arora, & Nelson, 2001). According to Borthwick-Duffy, Palmer, and Lane (1996), parents cannot be expected to share similar views concerning inclusion due to the heterogeneity of this group and complexities of placement decisions. Five themes have emerged from the literature on parent perceptions of inclusion. This chapter will review each of these themes. First, many parents of children with disabilities perceive some level of social benefit of this practice. Second, many parents express concerns regarding the impact of inclusion on their child as well as classroom variables (e.g., amount of time spent individually with the teacher, and general functioning of the classroom). Third, parent perceptions vary significantly and appear to be related to a variety of factors, such as the child's age, placement history, and values of the parent (Palmer et al., 1998). For example, parents of younger children with disabilities have been found to have more positive perceptions of inclusion than parents of older children (Kasari, Freeman, Bauminger, & Alkin, 1999; Leyser and Kirk, 2004). Fourth, the type of their child's disability appears to be associated with parent perceptions of inclusion (Kasari et al., 1999). Fifth, the severity of their child's disability is related to parent perceptions of inclusion (Leyser & Kirk, 2004).

Perceived Social Benefits of Inclusion

One of the primary arguments for inclusion has been that children with disabilities experience social benefits as a result (Daniel & King, 2001). Literature has shown that parents often cite social benefits for children with and without disabilities as outcomes of inclusion (Leyser & Kirk, 2004; Palmer et al., 1998, Peck, Staub, Gallucci, & Schwartz, 2004). Offering support to these findings, other research suggests both children with and without disabilities benefit from social interaction with each other (Baker, Wang, & Walberg, 1994; Fuchs & Fuchs, 1998). Social interactions between these groups have been found to foster greater acceptance of children with disabilities within society by helping them develop and generalize appropriate social skills to various settings (e.g., home, school, community) (Baker et al., 1994). The same interactions have been shown to benefit nondisabled students by challenging and altering stereotypical beliefs about individuals with disabilities, and promoting more positive self-esteem in these students as a result of helping their peers with disabilities (Phillips, Fuchs, & Fuchs, 1994).

Parent Concerns

The social acceptance of students with disabilities is a critical factor for inclusion to be successful (Fuchs & Fuchs, 1994). Although potential social benefits of inclusion are well documented, the adoption of inclusion does not ensure social acceptance of students with disabilities (Roberts & Mather, 1995). As illustrated by Leyser and Kirk (2004), some parents of children with disabilities have expressed concern of possible negative social and emotional impacts of inclusion on their child. In a study of parent views toward inclusion, Palmer et al. (2001) found that parents reported significant concerns regarding how their child with severe disabilities would be treated by peers in

an inclusive setting. Furthermore, in an investigation of parent perceptions of the effects of inclusion on their children with mild to moderate cognitive disabilities, Fox and Ysseldyke (1997) found that only half of parents reported that their child had benefited socially from being included in a regular education classroom. Many parents in this study also expressed concern for their child's lack of academic success in an inclusive setting.

Parents of children with disabilities seem to vary in the level and nature of their concern regarding their child's academic, social, and emotional progress. Palmer et al. (1998) suggested that parent perceptions of inclusion will vary depending on what outcomes they most value for their child. For example, some parents appear to emphasize the socialization of their child in an educational setting while other parents seem most concerned with the quality of education their child will receive (Palmer et al., 1998). It was further proposed that parents who place higher value on the socialization of their child will desire more inclusive placements for their children (Palmer et al., 1998).

Parent Perceptions of Inclusion

Stolber, Gettinger, and Goetz (1998) conducted a study on parents' beliefs about inclusion. The basis of their investigations stem from research that suggests parental beliefs about inclusion influence whether it is implemented, how it is practiced, and its subsequent success or failure (e.g., learning outcomes). A primary objective of their study was to determine whether parent beliefs about inclusion differed across situational and experiential factors. Participants included 410 parents of children with disabilities (n = 150) and without disabilities (n = 260) enrolled in inclusive early childhood education programs. The range of disabilities included speech/language delays (41%), cognitive disabilities (17%), behavioural disabilities (14%), physical disabilities (10%), other

health impairments (10%), learning disabilities (6%), and hearing or visual disabilities (5%).

Parental beliefs about inclusion were examined along three dimensions: core perspectives, expected outcomes, and classroom practices (Stolber et al., 1998). Core perspectives reflected parents' moral or ethical beliefs regarding how all children should be educated (e.g., the belief that students with disabilities had the right to be educated in the same classroom as typically developing peers). The expected outcomes dimension captured parent beliefs about how children would be affected by inclusion (e.g., parents were asked if they believed inclusion promotes social independence among children with disabilities). The classroom practices dimension represented beliefs about the impact of inclusion on a range of classroom variables (e.g., parents were asked if they believed children with disabilities monopolized teachers' time).

Results indicated significant differences in parent beliefs among the two groups (i.e., parents of children with and without disabilities) (Stolber et al., 1998). Parents of children with disabilities held significantly more positive beliefs about inclusion overall, as well as on dimensions of core perspectives and classroom practices. Significant differences in parental beliefs were also found in relation to demographic characteristics. For example, parents with higher levels of education (college) rated their beliefs as more positive than parents with high school education or less. Also expressing more positive beliefs about inclusion were parents with fewer than two children, and parents who were married. Thus, significant associations were found between parent beliefs and experiential factors such as having a child with a disability, having college education, being married, and having more than 2 children. It was further concluded that proximal

individual factors (e.g., marital status and education level) related more strongly to beliefs about inclusion than did distal or global factors (e.g., community).

Daniel and King (2001) explored parental attitudes toward inclusion across classroom variables. One main purpose of this study was to determine to what extent parent perceptions of classroom behaviour problems and level of concern for their child's school programming would differ in inclusive versus noninclusive classrooms. The attitudes of parents whose children (grades 3-5) were enrolled in three types of classrooms were compared: (1) noninclusion classrooms, (2) random inclusion classrooms, and (3) clustered inclusion classrooms. Noninclusion classrooms included students with special needs (e.g., learning disabled, language impaired, and gifted students), but these children were only present in the classroom for part of the day as they received the majority of instruction and services in alternative settings (e.g., resource). In random inclusion classrooms, students with special needs were equally and randomly assigned across all classrooms within the school. Students with special needs in the clustered inclusion group were unequally assigned to two classrooms, which resulted in higher percentages of students with disabilities in this group than in the random inclusion group.

Responses from 62 parents (27, 21, and 14 parents from noninclusion, random inclusion, and clustered inclusion classrooms, respectively) differed significantly depending on which type of classroom their child was enrolled in (Daniel & King, 2001). Parents whose children were in inclusive classrooms reported greater concern for program effectiveness, with parents in the clustered inclusion group expressing significantly more concern for effectiveness than those in the random inclusion group. Authors attributed this finding to the lack of consideration for how many students with

disabilities were placed in clustered classrooms, and stressed the importance of educators devoting careful consideration to such decisions when planning classroom placement. Additionally, higher levels of perceived behaviour problems were reported across inclusive groups. Parents in the noninclusive group reported less concern for program changes and less behaviour problems overall. Although the study categorized parents according to class type, authors failed to distinguish responses between parents of children with or without disabilities. Unlike the previous study by Stolber et al. (1998), comparisons along this dimension were not performed; therefore, no differences could be determined between these two groups.

Results from this study indicated the need for systematic parent involvement throughout the inclusion process (i.e., before, during, and after inclusion is implemented) (Daniel & King, 2001). This finding is consistent with other research which identified parent participation as essential for the successful implementation of inclusion (e.g., Bennet et al., 1997). Potential dangers of not including parents of children with disabilities in the decision making and implementation process of inclusion have also been illustrated. In an evaluation of parents' perspectives on the closure of a special education school, Cook and Swain (2001) found that excluding parents from this process caused lack of support from parents, which led to pervasive resistance to inclusion and the adoption of initiatives to prevent inclusion from being implemented. The implementation and progress of inclusion were obstructed due to the lack of parent support. Because parent support has been demonstrated as a significant factor contributing to the success and effectiveness of inclusion, their position on this issue is of continued interest to the field.

Another group of interest in the inclusion literature is parents of children without disabilities. Peck et al. (2004) surveyed 389 parents concerning their views regarding the impacts of inclusion on their nondisabled child. Parents of nondisabled children, who were enrolled in classrooms with at least one other full-time student with moderate to severe disabilities, commented on the academic progress and social-emotional development of their child as a result of being educated in an inclusive setting. Parent perceptions of classroom functioning and overall climate were also assessed.

Peck et al. (2004) found that while the majority of parents (78%) reported that there were no significant impacts on their child's academic progress as a result of being in an inclusive classroom, 15% of parents reported positive impacts, and 7% reported negative effects on their child's academic performance. With regard to how much time their child spent individually with the classroom teacher, the majority of respondents reported no difference. In terms of the effects inclusion has on certain dimensions of the classroom, most parents reported either positive or no effects; however, a small percentage of parents indicated negative impacts of inclusion on classroom variables. For example, some parents reported decreases in the responsiveness of curriculum to the individual needs of children (10%), general emotional warmth of the classroom (6%), and availability of specialists and aides to all children (13%).

Furthermore, 87% of parents expressed that their child had benefited both socially and emotionally from the experience of interacting with peers with severe disabilities (Peck et al., 2004). The majority of parents reported increases in their child's appreciation of other children's needs (67%) and acceptance of differences in behaviour and appearance (65%). General attitudes toward inclusion were mainly positive (64%) or neutral (26%), with 73% of parents affirming that they would enrol their child in an

inclusive classroom in the future. In contrast, approximately 10% of parents reported negative overall perceptions of inclusion. These parents indicated that inclusion had been a negative experience for their child and that they would not enrol their child in another inclusive classroom again. Responses from a few of these parents suggested devaluation of children with disabilities; however, the majority of these parents indicated concerns regarding children who cause disruptions to normal classroom routines (e.g., children with severe behavioural difficulties) or that the child with disabilities would consume a disproportionate amount of classroom resources (e.g., individual time with the teacher). Overall, being part of an inclusive classroom is perceived by parents of children without disabilities as being beneficial to their child (Giancreco, Edelman, Cloninger, & Dennis, 1993; Peck et al., 1998, 2004), with only a minority of parents of nondisabled children expressing negative views of this practice (Peck et al., 2004).

Kniveton (2004) proposed that parent views concerning inclusion varied depending on the type of the problem. It has also been suggested that parent views are mediated by the severity of the child's disability (Leyser & Kirk, 2004). Although research has demonstrated some support for a relationship between the type and severity of the child's disability and parental perceptions of inclusion, few studies have investigated how these factors influence parent views of inclusive education (Leyser & Kirk, 2004).

Type of Disability

Parents of children with different disabilities have been found to differ in their perceived ideal placement for their child (i.e., level of inclusion). Kasari et al. (1999) investigated whether parent perceptions of inclusive placements for their child would

differ depending on three factors: the child's age, type of disability, and current educational placement. Parents were also asked to identify their 'ideal' placement for their child from six options including: special education class on a special education campus; special education class on a general education campus; special education class on a general education campus and mainstreamed for nonacademic subjects; special education class on a general education campus and mainstreamed for academic subjects; general education class with additional specialized services, such as adaptive physical education and speech therapy; and general education class without additional specialized services. This study is distinct in the two groups of parents selected for comparison.

Participants included 262 parents of children with autism (n = 113) and Down syndrome (n = 149) (Kasari et al., 1999). The majority of these children were enrolled in special education (n = 174), while the remainder were enrolled in general education (n = 56) and early intervention programs (n = 32). Results indicated that parent perceptions varied significantly with regard to their child's age, type of disability, and current placement (Kasari et al., 1999). Compared to parents of children with autism who were more likely to endorse mainstreaming, parents of children with Down syndrome were 72% more likely to choose inclusion with services as the ideal program for their child. Parents of younger children (ages 2-9 years) were also more likely than parents of older children (10 years and above) to choose inclusion with services as their ideal program. Finally, parents whose children were enrolled in special education programs were least satisfied with their child's current placement.

Findings suggest that parent attitudes toward inclusion vary depending on child characteristics, such as the child's age and type of disability (Kasari et al., 1999). An additional finding from this study indicated that mothers of children with autism had

higher levels of education; however, they did not show preference for inclusion. This contradicts other research that has shown a relationship between a higher level of parent education and more positive perceptions of inclusion (Stolber et al., 1998). These findings suggest that parents may have positive perceptions of inclusion, but still would not choose this as an 'ideal' placement for their child. Another possible implication is that certain factors (e.g., type of disability the child has) may correlate more strongly with parents' perceptions and placement decisions than other variables (e.g., level of education). A finding distinguishing this study from previous research is that parent perceptions of inclusive education varied significantly depending on the type of their child's disability.

Severity of the Disability

Borthwick-Duffy, Palmer, and Lane (1996) argued that the inclusion movement has been promoted primarily by individuals advocating for the inclusion of children with severe disabilities. According to Turnbull and Turnbull (2002), parents of children with severe disabilities have been found to have characteristically positive attitudes toward inclusion. For example, many studies have shown that parents of children with severe disabilities support the inclusion of their child in general education, while often reporting significant social and educational benefits of this practice (Gallagher et al., 2000; Palmer et al., 1998). In contrast to these findings, other studies have found less support for inclusion from parents of children with severe disabilities (Leyser & Kirk, 2004; Palmer et al., 2001).

Palmer et al. (1998) examined parent perceptions of inclusive educational practices for their children with significant cognitive disabilities. Participants included

460 parents whose children (3 to 22 years of age) were enrolled in special day classes designed for children with severe disabilities in public schools. While a small percentage of these students (9.5%) were included in general education classrooms on a regular basis (more than 3 hours a day), the majority of students did not spend any time in the general classroom. A survey was administered to assess parental beliefs concerning the impacts of inclusion on the quality of educational services their child would receive, the mutual social and educational benefits of inclusion for children with and without disabilities, and the treatment and acceptance of their child in an inclusive setting. To investigate these variables, parents were asked whether they agreed with a series of statements. For example, parents were asked whether they agreed that a regular education classroom would provide more meaningful opportunities for their child to learn than would a special education classroom, whether benefits to regular education students would outweigh any potential problems that could arise from inclusion, and whether increased time spent in a regular classroom would be associated with an increased likelihood that their child would be mistreated by nondisabled peers.

Responses from parents varied significantly depending on the characteristics of the parent (e.g., value placed on specific curricular skills) and child (e.g., placement history) (Palmer et al., 1998). Results indicated that parents were most positive with regard to mutual student benefits, treatment, and acceptance of their child. Overall, an inclusive setting was seen to promote social benefits to all children; however, parents expressed concern with the quality of educational services their child would receive in an inclusive setting (e.g., individualized curriculum and attention). Authors emphasized consideration of individual child characteristics, as well as family values in determining the effectiveness of any inclusive educational model.

In a more recent study, Palmer et al. (2001) investigated parent views of inclusion for their children with severe disabilities, which included a diagnosis of mental retardation. This study differs from the previous study by Palmer et al. (1998) in that it sought to identify reasons why parents either supported or did not support the inclusion of their child with severe disabilities in general education classrooms. Survey responses from parents were categorized into statements reflecting support for, or resistance to, the placement of children with severe disabilities in an inclusive setting. Findings showed that approximately half (45%) of all parents expressed positive perceptions of inclusion on quantitative measures; however, on qualitative measures (i.e., parent statements of reasons why they support or oppose inclusion), only 13% of parents reported positive views. Reasons why parents were supportive of inclusion reflected (1) beliefs that their child would experience improvement in academics, social skills, and overall functioning in the general education setting due to more stimulation and higher expectations; (2) beliefs that general education students would benefit from inclusion (e.g., improved sensitivity to other children's needs); (3) improved family connection with home school placement (e.g., increased parent involvement because the school is located in their community, siblings can attend the same school); and (4) moral or philosophical beliefs (e.g., morally opposed to segregation).

In contrast, reasons why parents were opposed or resistive to inclusion included beliefs that the type and severity of their child's disability would preclude any benefit of inclusion, that inclusion would overburden or negatively impact general education teachers and students, that the curriculum would not match their child's needs, that the child should be around children with similar disabilities, and beliefs that the child is too behaviourally disruptive to be in a regular classroom (Palmer et al., 2001). Parents also

listed concerns regarding insufficient attention or services the included child would receive, treatment of the included child by nondisabled peers, and lack of specially trained personnel available in the general education classroom. Similar findings were reflected in Palmer et al. (1998) regarding parent identified concerns and benefits of inclusion (i.e., social benefits and concerns with quality of education). Also in line with previous findings, Palmer et al. (2001) demonstrated that many factors, other than the severity of their child's disability, are associated with whether parents of children with severe disabilities support or oppose inclusion. While some parents of children with severe disabilities reported enhancement of academic and social skills as benefits of inclusion, the majority of parents reported concerns with the inadequacy of curriculum and quality of education their child would receive in an inclusive setting.

Leyser and Kirk (2004) examined parent views of inclusion and factors associated with differing perspectives. The perceptions of 437 parents of children with disabilities were surveyed. Parents rated their child's disability as mild, moderate, or severe in the following areas: learning disability (n = 240), speech and language impairment (n = 154), attention deficit disorder (n = 101), emotional and behavioural disability (n = 63), intellectual disability (n = 61), physical impairment (n = 47), visual impairment (n = 24), health impairment (n = 30), hearing impairment (n = 18), and autism (n = 15). The majority of parents identified their child as having more than one disability. Disorders that most commonly occurred together were learning disabilities, speech and language disabilities, attention deficit disorders, and emotional behavioural disorders. Results indicated that the majority of parents supported the concept of inclusion from a theoretical and legal standpoint (e.g., the majority of parents expressed that their child should receive the same privileges and advantages as other children in school).

Significant social and emotional benefits of inclusion for both children with and without disabilities were also reported. Children with disabilities were perceived to benefit from inclusion by having greater opportunity to be involved with peers in social activities and by experiencing improvements in their overall self-concept, while children without disabilities were reported to benefit through enhanced awareness of individual differences. Parents reported being more prepared for the real world as a benefit to both groups.

Responses from parents also indicated concerns with regard to inclusive practices (Leyser & Kirk, 2004). Although parents reported social and emotional benefits to inclusion, the potential for the child with disabilities to be socially isolated or for their emotional development and wellbeing to be negatively affected by inclusion were primary concerns of parents. Evidence for such concerns has been corroborated in other research, which has found negative social impacts of inclusion on children with significant disabilities (e.g., Cook & Semmel, 1999; Freeman & Alkin, 2000). Because parents have been found to report both positive and negative impacts of inclusion on children with disabilities suggests that they view inclusion as an opportunity for their child to experience a range of social and emotional benefits; however, they also recognize the potential for experiencing a range of challenges. Social and emotional benefits are therefore not seen by all parents as necessary outcomes of inclusion. Rather these depend on other variables such as the level of acceptance by peers.

Additional concerns reported by parents involved the quality of instruction, availability of services, instructional training and skills of teachers in regular classrooms, and lack of support from teachers and other parents (Leyser & Kirk, 2004). The majority of parents expressed that regular classroom teachers simply do not have time to give their

child appropriate individual support. Some parents viewed support for inclusion as conditional on contextual factors, such as the individual teacher, programming, and attitudes of administration and school district.

Factors associated with differing parent views of inclusion included (1) level of severity of their child's disability, (2) the child's age, (3) years in special education, (4) extent of inclusion, and (5) parental educational and occupational background (Leyser & Kirk, 2004). Parents of children with mild disabilities reported significantly more positive views of inclusion as compared to parents of children with moderate and severe disabilities. Additionally, parents of younger children (0-12 years of age) reported significantly more positive perceptions of teacher ability and support in general education classrooms than did parents of older children (13 years of age and older). Parents whose children had received special education services for less time (less than two years) were also more positive on these variables compared to parents whose children had been receiving these services in excess of five years. Parents whose children were not included in the general classroom also reported significantly more positive views of inclusion with regard to teacher ability, support, and rights of the child than did parents of children who were included in the regular classroom all or part of the day. Finally, educational and occupational background of the parents influenced perceptions of inclusion. Parents with college education reported more benefits of inclusion than those with a high school education, and mothers who rated themselves as professionals reported more negative perceptions of teacher ability and support than mothers who rated themselves as skilled or unskilled workers.

Overall, research indicates that parent perceptions of inclusion are varied. While most parents perceive some benefit to inclusion, many express concerns regarding this

practice. Additionally, it remains unclear in the present literature how, and to what extent, such factors as disability type and severity influence parent views of inclusion, as few studies have made comparisons along these dimensions. Furthermore, parents of children with and without disabilities vary in their level of support for, or opposition to, inclusion. Lack of support from some parents indicates that important issues associated with inclusion have yet to be addressed (Leyser & Kirk, 2004). Continued evaluation of parent views is necessary if issues are to be resolved, and support and cooperation from parents is to be achieved.

The Current Study

A review of the literature suggests that not all parents of children with disabilities support the full inclusion of their child in general education. However, reasons why some parents support full inclusion while other parents oppose this practice are less clear. Many studies in this area have focused on variations of the full inclusion model (e.g., mainstreaming or partial inclusion), and few studies have directly compared parent perceptions of full inclusion across dimensions of severity (e.g., mild, moderate, and severe disabilities), and type of disability (e.g., autism spectrum disorder, cerebral palsy). Nor have comparisons been made between perceptions of parents' of children in preschool versus in-school settings. Effects of specific parent values (i.e., parents' most valued educational outcome for their child) on perceptions of full inclusion have also not been accounted for in the literature. Finally, whereas previous research has explored specific perceived impacts (e.g., amount of time the student spends individually with classroom teacher) of inclusion on nondisabled children (Peck et al., 2004), it has yet to report these impacts in relation to children with disabilities.

The purpose of the current study was to investigate factors related to parent perceptions of full inclusion by examining perceived outcomes of this practice for their children with disabilities. The study assumed a novel approach by making a distinction between parents' of children in preschool versus in-school settings, and examining differences between these groups. Further, the study sought to determine what value these parents placed on certain aspects of their child's educational experience (e.g., social, emotional, and academic progress), and whether these values were related to their preferred level of inclusion for their child.

The following research questions were examined:

- (1) Do parents whose children are currently enrolled in school differ in their perceptions of full inclusion (i.e., overall view of full inclusion, perceived level of effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion for their child), compared to parents of preschool children?
- (2) What variables are related to parent perceptions of full inclusion (e.g., type of disability, severity of disability, parents' level of education, etc)?
- (3) Is there a relationship between parent perceptions of full inclusion and level of importance placed on various aspects of their child's educational experience (e.g., progress in social, emotional, and academic domains)?

Understanding the impacts parents perceive full inclusion to have on their children with disabilities may offer insight into reasons why parents prefer full inclusion versus non-inclusion placements. Because parental attitudes toward full inclusion influence its success and effectiveness (Fox & Ysseldyke, 1997), these play a significant role in determining whether the movement toward full inclusion will sustain or diminish its momentum in upcoming years.

CHAPTER THREE

METHOD

The current study was conducted to examine parent perceptions of full inclusion in the school system relative to their child with disabilities. Participants in preschool and school settings were compared across their overall view of full inclusion, the effectiveness of this practice in meeting their child's needs, and the specific impacts of this practice on their child's social, emotional, and academic development. As well, participants identified their perceptions with regard to the responsiveness of curriculum, instruction, and availability of resources. Chapter Three includes an overview of the methodology for this study. The chapter begins with an overview of the study design, followed by a description of participant characteristics. Next, the instrument and procedure employed for collecting data is presented. Finally, a description of the data analysis that was performed to investigate each research question is outlined. Research questions included: (1) do parents whose children are currently enrolled in school differ in their perceptions of full inclusion (i.e., overall view of full inclusion, perceived level of effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion for their child) compared to parents of preschool children?, (2) what variables are related to parent perceptions of full inclusion (e.g., type of disability, severity of disability, parents' level of education, etc)?, and (3) is there a relationship between parent perceptions of full inclusion and level of importance placed on various aspects of their child's educational experience (e.g., progress in social, emotional, and academic domains)?

Research Design

The present study employed a comparative and correlational research design. The comparative component focused upon investigating differences in the perceptions of full inclusion between parents of children with disabilities whose children were enrolled in a preschool program and those whose children with disabilities were enrolled in a public school classroom. The correlational component focused upon examining the relationships between parent perceptions of full inclusion and demographic characteristics (e.g., level of education), as well as their perceptions of their child's educational experience (e.g., emotional development).

Participants

Participants in the current study included two groups of parents who had children with disabilities. Selection was based upon their current or past enrolment at a not for profit centre which provides early intervention services for children with disabilities. The centre serves a diverse population of families and children with disabilities in urban Nova Scotia. Services include a range of outreach and centre-based programs, such as structured playgroups, home visit programs, and school transition services. Services are provided to children from birth to six years of age (or school entry) with a range of diagnoses (e.g., Down syndrome, autism spectrum disorder, and cerebral palsy), which vary in level of severity.

Parents who were currently receiving services or had received services within the past year, and who had at least one child between the ages of four to six years were contacted for participation in the study. The first group consisted of parents whose children were enrolled in public school and who had received early intervention services

within the past year, prior to beginning school. The second group consisted of parents whose children were not yet enrolled in public school but were receiving early intervention services at the time. Parents of children enrolled in public school will be referred to as the *in-school group*, and parents whose children were not yet enrolled in public school will be referred to as the *preschool group*.

Instrumentation

A questionnaire was developed for the current study to examine parent perceptions of full inclusion. The instrument was adapted from a questionnaire developed by Peck et al. (2004) to investigate parent views of inclusive education and perceived impacts of this practice on their non-disabled children. The questionnaire was adapted by eliminating items that were not relevant to the objectives of the current study. Supplementary items were also included in order to answer the proposed research questions. Two versions of the questionnaire were developed to target parents of preschool children (Appendix C) and in-school children (Appendix D). While items the preschool form focused upon parent views of their child's prospective placement within a full inclusion classroom, items on the in-school form focused upon parent views of their child's current placement within a full inclusion classroom. Therefore, modifications were made to the phrasing of most items to tailor questions to the specific group of parents being surveyed by conveying the appropriate tense (i.e., past or prospective placement). A series of open-ended questions were included in both versions of the questionnaire to allow parents to elaborate on their responses to certain themes and items. For example, parents were given the opportunity to comment on any additional

information regarding their views of full inclusion and if there was any information they wanted schools to know that would help support children with disabilities at school.

Preschool Questionnaire

The preschool questionnaire was comprised of four main sections. The first section requested descriptive information about the parent and their child, such as the child's age, gender, type of disability, and the parent's level of education. The second section contained six statements reflecting specific aspects of their child's prospective experience in a full inclusion classroom. In this section on the preschool questionnaire, parents were asked to indicate whether they believed each item would increase or decrease as a result of their child participating in a full inclusion classroom compared to a non-inclusion classroom where most instruction and support occurs outside of the regular classroom (i.e., resource or learning centre). For each item, parents were asked to rate the statement on a 5-point, likert-type scale ranging from *decrease substantially* to *increase substantially*. For example, parents of preschool children were asked to indicate whether they believed the quality of their child's education would increase or decrease as a result of him/her participating in a full inclusion classroom, compared to a class where most teaching and support occurs outside of the regular classroom.

The third section requested information regarding parents' perceived impacts of inclusive classroom practices on their child. Parents were asked to select one of three options indicating whether they believed a full inclusion classroom would adequately meet their child's needs with regard to curriculum, instruction, availability of resources, social, and emotional development. Parents were asked to choose one of three statements indicating whether they felt their child's needs in each area would be met, would not be

met, or whether they were unsure. For example, preschool parents were asked to indicate whether they believed the curriculum in a full inclusion classroom, (a) would be adapted to meet the individual needs of their son/daughter, (b) would not be adapted to meet the individual needs of their son/daughter, or (c) whether they were unsure if it would be adapted to meet the individual needs of their son/daughter.

The fourth section targeted information regarding parents' overall evaluation of full inclusion and whether they felt it was optimal for their child. In this section, parents were asked to identify whether their general view of full inclusion was positive, negative, or neutral; whether they wanted their child to participate in a full inclusion classroom; what level of inclusion they desired for their child (i.e., full-time, part-time, or not at all); and generally how effective they felt full inclusion would be in meeting the needs of their child. Parents were also asked to rank, on a scale of 1 (most important) to 3 (least important), the degree of importance they placed on the following aspects of their child's educational experiences: the positive socialization of their child, the growth of their child's emotional development, and the quality of academic education their child would receive. Finally, using a likert-type scale parents were asked to circle a number between 1 (strongly agree) and 5 (strongly disagree) to indicate their level of agreement with a series of 11 statements. Some of the statements reflected whether parents felt limited by placement options available to their child, whether parents trusted the school to make placement decisions for their child, and whether parents felt it was necessary to withdraw their child from the regular classroom to receive specialized instruction/services.

In-school Questionnaire

The in-school questionnaire was also comprised on four main sections. The first section requested descriptive information from participants. It differed from the preschool questionnaire by asking parents to identify what grade their child was in, whether their child was currently enrolled in a full inclusion classroom, whether their child was receiving special services at school (e.g., speech therapy), and their level of satisfaction with their child's current educational program. The second section asked in-school parents to rate, on a 3-point likert-type scale, their level of satisfaction with six specific aspects of their child's educational experience in a full inclusion classroom. For example, parents were asked to rate their level of satisfaction with their child's academic progress in a full inclusion classroom from the following options: *not satisfied, somewhat satisfied,* or *very satisfied*.

The third section requested information regarding parents' perceived impacts of inclusive classroom practices on their child. Parents were asked to select one of three options indicating whether they believed a full inclusion classroom had been adequate to meet their child's needs with regard to curriculum, instruction, availability of resources, social, and emotional development. Parents were asked to choose one of three statements indicating whether they felt their child's needs in each area had been met, had not been met, or whether they were unsure. For example, parents were asked to indicate whether the curriculum in their child's current classroom placement, (a) had been adapted to meet the individual needs of their son/daughter, (b) had not been adapted to meet the individual needs of their son/daughter, or (c) whether they were unsure if it had been adapted to meet the individual needs of their son/daughter. Items in the fourth section of the in-school questionnaire did not differ from those in the preschool questionnaire.

Procedure

The Director of the early intervention centre was contacted and invited to participate in the study. A Letter of Informed Consent was provided to the Director which was signed as a requirement of participation (Appendix A). Envelopes containing the questionnaires and Letters of Informed Consent for parents (Appendix B) were delivered to the Director who was responsible for addressing and distributing envelopes to parents. Each envelope included two identical Letters of Informed Consent outlining the study, the appropriate version of the questionnaire, and a preaddressed stamped envelope for return purposes.

In the Letters of Informed Consent, all recipients were informed that participation in the study was voluntary. Parents who chose to participate in the study were asked to keep one Letter of Informed Consent for their records, to sign the second Letter of Informed Consent and return it with the completed questionnaire directly to the thesis supervisor in the preaddressed stamped envelope provided. The thesis supervisor was responsible for separating returned questionnaires and Letters of Informed Consent, and removing any identifying information on returned questionnaires. For confidentiality purposes, all signed Letters of Informed Consent remained with the thesis supervisor and were not disclosed to the principal researcher at any point in time. Only the researcher and thesis supervisor had access to the data. A summary of the findings were provided to the early intervention centre upon completion of the study.

Data Analysis

Three primary research questions were examined in the present study. These included: (1) do parents whose children are currently enrolled in school differ in their

perceptions of full inclusion (i.e., overall view of full inclusion, perceived level of effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion for their child), compared to parents of preschool children?, (2) what variables are related to parent perceptions of full inclusion (e.g., type of disability, severity of disability, parents' level of education, etc), and (3) is there a relationship between parent perceptions of full inclusion and level of importance placed on various aspects of their child's educational experience (e.g., progress in social, emotional, and academic domains)? The first question was answered by performing a series of analyses of variance and independent sample t-tests to determine group differences between responses from parents of preschool and parents of in-school children. The second question was analyzed by performing a series of correlations to determine what variables were related to parent perceptions of full inclusion (e.g., type of disability, severity of disability). The third question was answered by performing a series of correlations to determine if there was a relationship between parent perceptions of full inclusion and level of importance placed on various aspects of their child's educational experience, including their child's social, emotional, and academic progress.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

Parent support and involvement have been implicated in the successful implementation and effectiveness of full inclusion. The objective of the current study was to explore the perceptions of a special population of parents across factors related to full inclusion. This chapter provides an overview of the results. Questionnaire responses were analyzed and results are presented in terms of percentage of parent responses to each item in each section. The following research questions will also be analyzed: (1) what variables are related to parent perceptions of full inclusion (e.g., type of disability, severity of disability, parents' level of education)?, (2) do parents whose children are currently enrolled in school differ in their view of full inclusion, its level of effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion for their child, compared to parents of preschool children?, and (3) is there a relationship between parent perceptions of full inclusion and level of importance placed on various aspects of their child's educational experience (e.g., progress in social, emotional, and academic domains)?

Participants

The questionnaire was returned by 15.5% (n = 17) of the parents to whom it was sent. Participant demographic information for level of education and number of children in the household are provided in Table 1. Eighty-two percent of parents (n = 14) reported they were not single-parent families. The remaining 18% of respondents (n = 3) identified their household as a single-parent family with the mother as the primary caregiver.

Table 1 Participant Demographic Information (n = 17) for Level of Education and Number of Children in Household

	n	P
Highest Level of Education in Household		
High School or GED Completion	2	11.8
Vocational/Community College	3	17.6
Some Undergraduate Courses	1	5.9
Undergraduate Degree	10	58.8
Graduate Degree	1	5.9
Number of Children in Household		
1	5	29.4
2	7	41.2
3	3	17.6
4	2	11.8

Only one parent reported having more than one child with a disability. In this case, the parent provided information for both children. Both of these children were enrolled in public school. The younger child was 5 years of age and in Grade Primary, and the older child was 8 years of age and in Grade 2. Both children were male and had a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder. Each child was regarded as a separate participant.

Of the seventeen parents who completed questionnaires, 52.9% had children who were enrolled in public school and had received early intervention services within the past year (n = 9). The remaining 47.1% of parents had preschool children who were not enrolled in public school but were receiving early intervention services at the time (n = 8). This group of parents will be referred to as the preschool group, while the former group of parents will be referred to as the in-school group. The amount of time parents reported having received early intervention services ranged from six months to four years. These services included, home visits, preschool outreach visits, weekly playgroups, counselling, and school transition services (n = 14). Three parents did not complete this section.

Preschool Group

Children in the preschool group (n = 8) ranged in age from 4 to 5 years, with a mean age of 4.63 years. Seventy-five percent of these children were male (n = 6) and 25% were female (n = 2). The types of disabilities reported by parents in the preschool group included autism spectrum disorder (n = 5), developmental delay (n = 1), and chromosomal deletion syndrome (n = 1). One child in this group was reported to have comorbid disorders: attention deficit hyperactivity disorder / speech articulation disorder (n = 1).

The severity of a child's disability was rated according to a 5-point, likert-type scale, with values ranging from 1 (mild) to 5 (severe). The following ratings were reported by preschool parents: 25% rated the severity of their child's disability as mild (n = 2), 37.5% rated their child's disability as mild/moderate (n = 3), 25% rated their child's disability as moderate/severe (n = 1). No parents in this group rated their child's disability as severe.

In-school Group

Children in the in-school group (n = 9) ranged in age from 5 to 8 years, with a mean age of 6.0 years. Eighty-nine percent of in-school children were male (n = 8) and 11% were female (n = 1). The types of disabilities reported by parents in the in-school group included autism spectrum disorder (n = 6), developmental delay (n = 1), and Asperger's syndrome (n = 1). One child in this group was reported to have comorbid disorders: fetal alcohol syndrome / muscular dystrophy (n = 1). The following ratings of severity were reported by parents: 22.2% rated the severity of their child's disability as mild (n = 2), 55.5% rated their child's disability as moderate (n = 5), and 22.2% rated their child's disability as moderate or severe.

All children in the in-school group (n = 9) were reported by parents to have been enrolled in full inclusion classrooms. All children were also receiving special services at school. The following services were reported: speech therapy (n = 2), occupational therapy (n = 1), resource (n = 5), learning centre (n = 1), reading recovery (n = 1), and educational program assistant (n = 2). Children in the in-school group were enrolled in the following grades: Grade primary (n = 6), Grade 1 (n = 2), and Grade 2 (n = 1).

Data Analysis

According to Stevens (1996), p < .10 is useful in exploratory research to maximize the interpretability of the data. Due to the small sample size and exploratory nature of the current study, effects and interactions were analyzed in accordance with a significance level below .10. That is, for all independent-sample t-tests, p < .10 was used and effect sizes were calculated for all significant differences less than .10. Effect sizes were determined by calculating Cohen's d (Cohen, 1977). Interpretation of effect sizes was based upon Cohen's estimates of strength ranges: small effect, above d = .20; medium effect, above d = .50; large effect, above d = .80. With the alpha level set at .10, there is a 10% chance the significant result is due to chance.

Views of Full Inclusion, Perceived Effectiveness, and Preferred Level of Inclusion

A number of questionnaire items requested information regarding parents' overall view of full inclusion, its perceived level of effectiveness, and parents' preferred level of inclusion for their child. Parent views, ratings of effectiveness, and preferred level of

General Views of Full Inclusion

inclusion according to group are illustrated in Table 2.

Parents were asked to indicate their general view of full inclusion. Across groups, the majority of parents (52.9%) reported their view as positive (n = 9), 23.5% as neutral (n = 4), and 23.5% as negative (n = 4). An independent-samples t-test was performed to determine significance of group differences. When preschool (M = 1.50, SD = 0.76) and in-school (M = 1.89, SD = 0.93) group responses were examined, the differences between the groups was not significant t(15) = 0.09, p = .36.

Table 2

Parent Views of Full Inclusion, Ratings of Effectiveness, and Preferred Level of Inclusion by Group

	Preschool $(n = 8)$	In-school $(n = 9)$		
	n	n		
View of Full Inclusion				
Positive	5	4		
Neutral	2	2		
Negative	1	3		
Rating of Effectiveness				
1 (Not effective)	1	1		
2	0	4		
3	3	1		
4	4	2		
5 (Very effective)	0	1		
Preferred Level of Inclusion				
Full-time	4	5		
Part-time	3	4		
Not at All	1	0		

Perceived Effectiveness of Full Inclusion

Parents also rated the overall effectiveness of full inclusion in meeting the needs of their child. Ratings of effectiveness were assessed on a 5-point, likert-type scale ranging from 1 (not effective) to 5 (very effective). Overall, the majority of parents (64.7%) rated full inclusion as being moderately effective or better in meeting the needs of their child. No significant differences between preschool (M = 3.25, SD = 1.04) and inschool (M = 2.78, SD = 1.30) groups were found t(15) = 0.82, p = .43.

Preferred Level of Inclusion

Parents were asked to indicate whether, if given the choice, they would place their child in a regular education classroom on a full-time basis, part-time basis, or not at all. The majority of parents (52.9%) indicated they would choose a full-time inclusion placement for their child (n = 9). Of the remaining 47.1% of parents, 41.2% indicated they would only choose to include their child in a regular classroom on a part-time basis (n = 7) and 5.9% indicated they would choose not to include their child in a regular education classroom (n = 1). Parents who chose part-time placements for their child, reported the number of hours per day they would want their child to be included in a full inclusion classroom. The amount of time parents preferred their child to be included in a full inclusion classroom ranged from one to four hours, with a mean time of 2.7 hours per school day. No significant differences between preschool (M = 1.63, SD = 0.74) and inschool (M = 1.44, SD = 0.53) groups were found t(15) = 0.58, p = .57.

Parent Values and Relationship with Perceptions of Full Inclusion

Parents were asked to rank, in order of importance, the following aspects of their child's educational experience: the positive socialization of their child with other

students, the growth of their child's emotional development, and the quality of academic education their child receives. Almost an equal number of parents across groups identified the positive socialization of their child (n = 7) and quality of academic education their child receives (n = 6) as most important (41.2% and 35.3%, respectively). When groups were examined separately, the majority of in-school parents (55.6%) rated the positive socialization of their child as most important, whereas the majority of preschool parents (50%) rated the quality of academic education their child receives as most important. Although preschool (M = 2.25, SD = 0.89) and in-school (M = 1.67, SD = 0.87) groups did not differ significantly t(15) = 1.37, p = .19, a medium effect size was indicated (d = 0.66).

Furthermore, whereas 71.4% of all parents who placed the highest value on the positive socialization of their child reported positive views of full inclusion, only 33.3% of parents who placed the highest value on their child's academic progress reported positive views. Approximately half of parents (52.9%) who placed the highest value on their child's emotional development also reported positive views. The correspondence of parents' most valued outcome with views of full inclusion is depicted in Table 3. Correlations between parent values (i.e., most valued outcome for their child) and perception variables (i.e., parent views of full inclusion, its perceived effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion) were examined. No significant correlations were detected among these variables (see Table 4).

Table 3

Parents' Most Valued Outcome and Views of Full Inclusion

	View of Full Inclusion			
	Positive Neutral Negati			
	n	n	n	
Most Important Outcome				
Socialization	5	1	1	
Quality of Academic Education	2	2	2	
Emotional Development	2	1	1	

Parents' Perceived Impacts of Full Inclusion on their Child

Several questionnaire items requested parent views regarding the impact of a range of inclusive classroom practices on their child. Parents were asked to indicate how their child *had been* or *would be* impacted by participating in a full inclusion classroom across the following contexts: curriculum, instruction, availability of special resources, social environment, and emotional development. Parent responses to these items according to group are summarized in Table 5. While parents in the in-school group were asked to report how their child *had been* impacted by participating in a full inclusion classroom, parents in the preschool group were asked how they believed their child would be impacted by a prospective placement in a full inclusion classroom.

Curriculum and Instruction

When parents across groups were asked whether the curriculum *had been* (in-school) or *would be* (preschool) adapted to meet the individual needs of their child: 29.4% reported the curriculum either had been or would be adapted, 23.5% reported the curriculum either had not been or would not be adapted, and 47.1% reported they were unsure. When parents across groups were asked whether the instruction *had been* or *would be* adapted to meet the individual needs of their child: 35.3% reported the instruction either had been or would be adapted, 35.3% reported the instruction either had not been or would not be adapted, and 29.4% reported they were unsure.

Table 4

Correlations between Parents' Most Valued Outcome and Views of Full Inclusion,

Perceived Effectiveness, and Preferred Level of Inclusion

	View of Full Inclusion	Effectiveness of Full Inclusion	Preferred Level of Inclusion
Most Important Outcome	.30	24	14

Table 5

Parents' Perceived Impacts of Full Inclusion on their Child by Group

The curriculum:	Will/has been adapted	Will/has not been adapted	Unsure
Preschool $(n = 8)$	2	1	5
In-school $(n = 9)$	3	3	3
The instruction:	Will/has been adapted	Will/has not been adapted	Unsure
Preschool $(n = 8)$	2	2	4
In-school $(n = 9)$	4	4	1
The availability of special staff resources:	Will/has been adequate	Will/has not been adequate	Unsure
Preschool $(n = 8)$	4	0	4
In-school $(n = 9)$	4	4	1
The social environment:	Will/has been accepting	Will/has not been accepting	Unsure
Preschool $(n = 8)$	1	0	7
In-school $(n = 9)$	6	0	3
My child's emotional development:	Will/has been nurtured	Will/has not been nurtured	Unsure
Preschool $(n = 8)$	4	0	4
In-school $(n = 9)$	8	0	1

Availability of Special Staff Resources

When parents across groups were asked whether the availability of special staff resources, such as specialists and instructional aides, *had been* or *would be* adequate to meet their child's needs in a full inclusion classroom: 47.1% reported the availability of special staff resources had been or would be adequate to meet their child's needs, 23.5% reported the availability of special staff resources had not been or would not be adequate, and 29.4% reported they were unsure.

Social Environment and Emotional Development

When parents across groups were asked whether the social environment in a full inclusion classroom *had been* or *would be* accepting of their child: 41.2% reported the social environment had been or would be accepting of their child, and 58.8% reported they were unsure. When parents across groups were asked whether their child's emotional development *had been* or *would be* nurtured in a full inclusion classroom: 70.6% reported their child's emotional development had been or would be nurtured, and 29.4% reported they were unsure.

In-school Parents' Perceived Level of Satisfaction with Educational Variables

Parents of in-school children (n = 9) were asked whether they were satisfied with
their child's current educational program, and to rate their level of satisfaction with the
following educational variables: amount of time their child had individually with the
teacher, their child's academic progress, the quality of their child's education, their
child's emotional development, the quality of social interactions between their child and

his/her peers, and the acceptance of their child by other students. Table 6 summarizes parents' level of satisfaction with educational variables since their child started school. While the majority of in-school parents (66.7%) reported they were satisfied with their child's current educational program (n = 6), 33.3% reported not being satisfied (n = 3). Parents appeared to be most satisfied with the acceptance of their child by other students, with 55.6% of parents (n = 5) reporting they were very satisfied and no parents reporting dissatisfaction with this outcome. Conversely, almost half of all parents (44.4%) were not satisfied with the quality of their child's education (n = 4). Although many respondents reported being somewhat satisfied with their child's academic progress (n = 5), 33.3% of parents (n = 3) reported not being satisfied. In addition, the majority of parents reported being somewhat satisfied with their child's emotional development (n = 7), and the quality of their child's social interactions with his/her peers (n = 6). Parents' level of satisfaction with the amount of individual time their child had with the teacher varied. An equal number of parents reported being satisfied (n = 3), somewhat satisfied (n = 3), and not satisfied (n = 3).

Beliefs about Effectiveness and Concerns about Full Inclusion

The final series of questionnaire items asked parents to rate their level of agreement with a series of statements which reflected the effectiveness of full inclusion in meeting their child's specific needs (i.e., academic, social, emotional, and behavioural), and parent concerns related to full inclusion that have been reported in the

Table 6 In-school Parents' (n = 9) Level of Satisfaction with Educational Variables

	Not Satisfied	Not Satisfied Somewhat Satisfied	
	n	n	n
The amount of time my child has individually with the teacher:	3	3	3
My child's academic progress:	3	5	1
The quality of my child's education:	4	3	2
My child's emotional development:	0	7	2
The quality of social interactions between my child and his/her peers:	1	6	2
The acceptance of my child by other students:	0	4	5

literature. As well, statements asked parents whether they trusted the school to make placement decisions for their child, whether they agreed it was necessary to routinely withdraw their child from the regular classroom to receive specialized instruction/ services, whether they felt limited by the educational placement options available to their child, and whether they felt full inclusion would be more appropriate in elementary school than at secondary school levels. Level of parent agreement with each item is presented in Table 7.

In general, most parents (58.8%) agreed or strongly agreed that their child's academic needs could be best met in a full inclusion classroom, while only 23.5% of all parents disagreed or strongly disagreed with this statement. Parents' agreement that their child's social needs could be best met in a full inclusion classroom was even more significant, with 76.5% of all parents agreeing or strongly agreeing with this statement and only one parent reporting disagreement. Conversely, 35.3% of all parents disagreed that their child's behavioural needs could be best met in a full inclusion classroom. In terms of parent concerns, the majority of parents across groups disagreed or strongly disagreed that their child was too behaviourally disruptive to be in a full inclusion classroom (58.9%), and that they would be concerned for their child's safety in this environment (76.4%). In contrast, 58.8% of all parents agreed or strongly agreed they were concerned with the class size of a full inclusion classroom.

The majority of parents (58.8%) across groups also agreed or strongly agreed that they felt limited by the educational placement options available to their child, and that it was necessary to routinely withdraw their child from the regular classroom to receive specialized instruction or services (64.7%). Only 23.3% and 17.7% of parents,

	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neither Agree/ Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
My child's academic needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom	3	1	3	6	4
My child's social needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom	0	2	2	7	6
My child's emotional needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	7	4	3
My child's behavioural needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom	0	6	5	2	4
I am concerned my child is too behaviourally disruptive to be in full inclusion	8	2	3	2	2
I am concerned for my child's safety in a full inclusion classroom	9	4	0	2	2
I am concerned about the class size of a full inclusion classroom	3	3	1	6	4
I trust the school to place my child in a classroom that will be most effective	0	2	5	7	3
I feel limited by the educational placement options available to my child	3	1	3	6	4
It is necessary to routinely withdraw my child from the regular classroom to receive specialized instruction or services	2	1	3	6	5
Full inclusion is more appropriate in elementary than in junior high or high school	3	0	10	3	1

respectively, reported disagreement with these items. Finally, most parents (58.8%) indicated agreement or strong agreement that they trusted the school to place their child in a classroom that will be most effective, as opposed to only 11.8% of parents who disagreed with this statement.

Differences between preschool and in-school group responses were analyzed. Means and standard deviations according to group are provided in Table 8. Significant differences were found between preschool and in-school parents' level of agreement with the following statements: "My child's behavioural needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom" t(15) = -2.87, p = .01, "I am concerned that my child is too behaviourally disruptive to be in a full inclusion classroom" t(15) = -2.50, p = .03, "I am concerned for my child's safety in a full inclusion classroom" t(15) = -3.81, p < .01, "I feel limited by the educational placement options available to my child" t(15) = 2.48, p = .03, and "Full inclusion is more appropriate in elementary than in junior high or high school" t(15) = 2.23, t(15) = 2.23,

Correlational Analyses

View of Full Inclusion, Perceived Effectiveness, and Preferred Level of Inclusion

The correlations between parent views of full inclusion, perceived effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion were explored. A significant negative correlation was found between view of full inclusion and rating of effectiveness r(15) = -0.88, p < .01.

That is, the higher parents rated the effectiveness of full inclusion, the more likely they were to report positive views. No significant correlations were detected between view of

Table 8

Means and Standard Deviations for Belief, Concern, and General Statements about
Inclusion by Group

	Preschool		In-scl	hool
	M	SD	M	SD
Academic needs can be best met in full inclusion	3.63	1.30	3.22	1.56
Social needs can be best met in full inclusion	3.75	1.04	4.22	0.97
Emotional needs can be best met in full inclusion	3.00	0.93	3.67	1.23
Behavioural needs can be best met in full inclusion	2.50	0.76	3.89	1.17
Concerned child is too behaviourally disruptive	2.88	1.65	4.44	0.88
Concerned for child's safety	2.88	1.56	4.89	0.33
Concerned about class size	2.50	1.41	2.89	1.62
Trust school to place child	3.88	0.84	3.44	1.01
Feel limited by educational placement options	3.38	1.51	1.89	0.93
Necessary to routinely withdraw child from regular classroom	2.88	1.73	1.89	0.60
Full inclusion is more appropriate in elementary	3.50	0.76	2.44	1.13

full inclusion and preferred level of inclusion r(15) = 0.19, p = .46, or preferred level of inclusion and perceived effectiveness of full inclusion r(15) = -0.34, p = .18.

Demographic Variables and Perceptions of Full Inclusion

Correlations between demographic variables (e.g., parents' level of education, child's age, type of disability) and perception variables (i.e., parent views of full inclusion, its perceived effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion) were examined (see Table 9). There was a significant negative correlation between the severity of disability and effectiveness of full inclusion r(15) = -0.57, p = .02. Rather, the more severe parents rated their child's disability, the less effective they reported full inclusion would be. A significant negative correlation was also found between parents' level of education and preferred level of inclusion r(15) = -0.47, p = .06. That is, parents who indicated higher levels of education in their home were more likely to prefer a full-time inclusion placement for their child. Finally, a significant positive correlation between the child's age and view of full inclusion was also found r(15) = 0.43, p = .09, suggesting that as the child's age increased, parents' view of full inclusion became more negative. No other significant correlations were indicated between demographic variables and parent perceptions of full inclusion.

School Satisfaction and Perceptions of Full Inclusion

Correlations between school satisfaction variables (e.g., amount of individual time the child has with the teacher, quality of the child's education) and perception variables (i.e., parent views of full inclusion, its perceived effectiveness, and preferred level of

Table 9

Correlations between Demographic Variables and Parent Views of Full Inclusion,

Preferred Level of Inclusion, and Effectiveness of Full Inclusion

	View of Full Inclusion	Preferred Level of Inclusion	Effectiveness of Full Inclusion
Parents' Level of Education	.09	47*	04
Number of Children in Family	.12	.30	22
Family Type	.17	.36	.00
Child's Age	.43*	32	27
Child's Gender	02	.36	.00
Disability Type	27	.25	.03
Severity of Disability	.39	.28	57**

^{*} p < .10 ** p < .05

Table 10

Correlations between In-School Parents' Satisfaction with School Variables and Views of Full Inclusion, Preferred Level of Inclusion, and Effectiveness of Full Inclusion

	View of Full Inclusion	Effectiveness of Full Inclusion	Preferred Level of Inclusion
Satisfaction Variables			
Amount of Time with Teacher	93***	.78**	.00
Academic Progress	85***	.80***	04
Quality of Education	84***	.76**	03
Emotional Development	54	.53	.06
Quality of Social Interactions	65*	.84***	57
Acceptance by other Students	11	.57	-1.00***

^{*} p < .10 ** p < .05 *** p < .01

inclusion) were examined. Significant correlations are presented in Table 10. Significant correlations suggest that as in-school parents' level of satisfaction with the following variables increased: (1) amount of time their child had with the teacher, (2) their child's academic progress, (3) the quality of their child's education, and (4) the quality of their child's interactions with his/her peers, their overall ratings of effectiveness also increased, and their views of full inclusion became more positive. In addition, the more satisfied parents were with the acceptance of their child by other students, the more likely they were to prefer a full-time inclusion placement.

Beliefs, Concerns and Perceptions of Full Inclusion

Significant correlations were also found between parents' level of agreement with belief and concern statements about full inclusion, and perception variables (i.e., parent views of full inclusion, its perceived effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion) (see Table 11). Overall, the more parents felt limited by educational placement options and were concerned about class size, the more likely they were to report negative views of full inclusion and to rate full inclusion as less effective. Conversely, the more parents trusted the school to place their child in the most effective classroom, the more positive were their views of full inclusion and ratings of effectiveness. Furthermore, the more strongly parents agreed that their child's academic and behavioural needs could be best met in a full inclusion classroom, the more likely they were to prefer a full-time inclusion placement for their child. Parents' ratings of effectiveness also increased with stronger agreement that their child's academic needs could be best met in a full inclusion classroom.

Table 11

Correlations between Beliefs and Concerns about Full Inclusion, and Views of Full Inclusion, Perceived Effectiveness, and Preferred Level of Inclusion

	View of Full Inclusion	Effectiveness of Full Inclusion	Preferred Level of Inclusion
My child's academic needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom	36	.56**	55*
My child's social needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom	30	.48*	40
My child's emotional needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom	-1.48	.43*	38
My child's behavioural needs can be met best in a full inclusion classroom	.01	.22	68***
I am concerned that my child will be too behaviourally disruptive in a full inclusion classroom	.03	.00	36
I am concerned for my child's safety if he were in a full inclusion classroom	.04	07	10
I am concerned about the class size of a full inclusion classroom	72***	.75***	09
I trust the school to place my child in a classroom that will be most effective	61***	.52**	.01
I feel limited by the educational placement options available to my child	73***	.57**	02
It is necessary to routinely withdraw my child from the regular classroom to receive specialized instruction or services	40	.36	17
Full inclusion is more appropriate in elementary than in junior high or high school	16	10	.23

^{*} p < .10. ** p < .05. *** p < .01

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

The current study explored parent perceptions of full inclusion for children with disabilities. In this chapter, the findings of the current study are reviewed within the context of the literature on parent perceptions of inclusion. Results are discussed in terms of proposed research questions and key findings. The limitations and implications of this study are also discussed.

Overall, approximately half of parents reported positive views of full inclusion (n = 9), while four parents reported negative views of this practice. Approximately half of parents also preferred full-time inclusion placements for their child (n = 9). Still, a significant number of parents (n = 7) indicated they would prefer for their child to be included in a regular classroom on a part-time basis (1 - 4 hours per day). This finding was not surprising considering a significant number of parents (64.7%) agreed it was necessary to withdraw their child routinely from the regular classroom to receive specialized instruction or services. This preference for part-time inclusion contrasts current provincial policy which emphasizes full inclusion of children with disabilities (Nova Scotia Department of Education and Culture, 1996).

A number of factors may have influenced parent preferences for part-time inclusion, including the severity and/or type of their child's disability. For example, the majority of parents in the current study rated the severity of their child's disability as moderate or moderate/severe (n = 10), while only a few parents rated their child's disability as mild. Parents who rated their child's disability as more severe were more likely to agree it was necessary to withdraw their child routinely from the regular classroom to receive specialized services. This finding is supported by other research

which has found less support for inclusion from parents of children with more severe disabilities (Leyser & Kirk, 2004; Palmer et al., 2001).

Additionally, a significant number of parents in the current study had children with autism spectrum disorder (71%), almost half of which preferred part-time inclusion placements. Kasari et al. (1999) found that parents of children with autism were more likely to choose partial inclusion for their child, compared to parents of children with Down syndrome. As well, parents of children with autism indicated that their child's needs could not be met in an inclusive classroom (Kasari et al., 1999). Authors hypothesized that the needs of children with autism are characteristically different from those of children with other disabilities. For example, many children with autism have social difficulties that would make full inclusion in a regular education classroom challenging. Thus, the disproportionate number of parents in the current study whose children had autism may have inflated the number of parents who chose part-time inclusion placements for their child, than had the sample been more heterogeneous.

Differences between Preschool and In-school Parent Perceptions of Full inclusion

Kasari et al. (1999) found the child's current placement to be related to parent

perceptions of full inclusion. Specifically, parents' whose children were enrolled in

general education were more likely to choose inclusion with services as their ideal

placement option, compared to parents' of children in special education or early

intervention who showed preferences for mainstreaming or partial inclusion. One purpose

of the current study was to examine differences between preschool and in-school parent

perceptions of full inclusion. Comparisons between groups were made across the

following: parents' overall view of full inclusion, its perceived level of effectiveness, and

parents' preferred level of inclusion for their child. No significant differences were found between preschool and in-school parent responses to these items. Thus, in contrast to Kasari et al. (1999), the child's current placement (in-school versus preschool) was not related to parents' preferred level of inclusion for their child. These results suggest factors, other than the child's current placement, may be impacting parents' preferred placement for their child. In the current study, three factors were found to be related to parents' preferred level of inclusion, including: (1) the level of education in the home (i.e., parents who indicated higher levels of education in the home, were more likely to prefer full-time inclusion placements), (2) stronger agreement that their child's academic and behavioural needs could be best met in a full inclusion classroom, and (3) in-school parents' level of satisfaction with the acceptance of their child by other students in the general education classroom.

Although no significant differences were found between preschool and in-school parents' general perceptions of full inclusion (views, effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion), more polarized negative views were evidenced in the in-school group. That is, more parents in the in-school group reported negative views of full inclusion and rated it as less effective overall. Despite this trend, the majority of in-school parents (55%) still preferred full-time inclusion placements to part-time inclusion or no inclusion. An interesting finding to consider here is that parents' preferred level of inclusion for their child (part-time, full-time, or not at all) was not related to their view of full inclusion or rating of effectiveness. This suggests that even those parents who reported negative views of full inclusion and rated it as less effective in meeting their child's needs, still showed a preference for their child to be included at least on a part-time basis. Therefore, although not all parents endorsed the full inclusion of their child, their preference for at least

partial inclusion was strong. Only one parent preferred a non-inclusive placement for their child.

Between-group comparisons were also made on supplemental items, which revealed significant differences between preschool and in-school parent perceptions. First, in-school parents indicated stronger agreement that they felt limited by educational options available to their child, which could be one reason they expressed more negative views overall. Additionally, compared to parents of children in school, preschool parents reported significantly greater concern that their child would be too behaviourally disruptive to be in a full inclusion classroom. Consistent with this finding, preschool parents' also disagreed more strongly that their child's behavioural needs could be best met in this type of setting. As well, preschool parents expressed greater concern for their child's overall safety in a full inclusion classroom. Large effect sizes were indicated for each of the above differences (d = 1.22, d = 1.24, d = 1.45, d = 2.13, respectively). Although such differences have not been cited in the literature, it is possible that preschool parents' greater level of concern is associated with higher levels of uncertainty with how their child would be impacted by inclusive classroom practices. For example, more preschool than in-school parents reported they were unsure whether the following aspects of a full inclusion classroom would be adequate to meet their child's needs: curriculum, instruction, availability of special staff resources, social environment, and emotional nurturance. Greater uncertainty regarding inclusive practices (e.g., support services, alternative locations within the school for their child to receive support) may result from lack of knowledge or experience within the school system, and cause preschool parents to be more concerned with their child's basic safety and behavioural needs. Although research has explored the academic and social outcomes of inclusion,

considerably less attention has been given to behavioural outcomes of full inclusion for children with disabilities.

Factors related to Parent Perceptions of Full Inclusion

Literature suggests specific factors relate to parent perceptions of full inclusion, such as the child's age (Kasari et al., 1999; Leyser & Kirk, 2004), the type and severity of the child's disability (Leyser & Kirk, 2004), the child's current placement (Kasari et al., 1999), and the parents' level of education (Leyser & Kirk, 2004; Stolber et al., 1998). A second purpose of the current study was to examine correlations among parent perceptions of full inclusion across several dimensions, including demographic characteristics, and in-school parents' level of satisfaction with school outcomes. Several factors in the current study appeared to be related to parents' overall view of full inclusion, its perceived effectiveness, and preferred level of inclusion for their child.

First, parents' overall view of full inclusion (positive, neutral, or negative) was related to how effective they perceived full inclusion would be in meeting their child's needs. That is, the higher parents rated the effectiveness of full inclusion, the more likely they were to report positive views of this practice. This suggests beliefs about effectiveness may be strongly related to parent views of full inclusion. Relationships between parent beliefs about effectiveness and views of full inclusion have been largely unexplored in the literature. One study found parents' whose children were in inclusive classrooms reported greater concern for program effectiveness, compared to parents' whose children were in non-inclusive classrooms (Daniel & King, 2001). However, this study failed to distinguish responses between parents of children with and without disabilities, and did not examine whether parent concerns were related to their attitudes toward inclusion (Daniel & King, 2001).

In addition, the more strongly parents agreed that their child's academic and behavioural needs could be best met in a full inclusion classroom, the more likely they were to prefer a full-time inclusion placement for their child. This suggests the child's academic and behavioural needs may be particularly relevant in mediating parent placement decisions. If the goal is to gain endorsement of full inclusion from parents of children with disabilities, consideration should be given to how their child's academic and behavioural needs would be met in this type of setting.

Conversely, negative views and ratings of effectiveness by parents were associated with concerns regarding class size and feeling limited by educational options. Rather, the more parents felt limited by educational placement options available to their child and were concerned about class size, the more likely they were to report negative views of full inclusion and to rate it as less effective overall. Between-group comparisons found that in-school parents expressed stronger agreement that they felt limited by educational placement options available to their child, which may be one reason they expressed more negative views. Overall, the above findings supplement current literature as no studies have yet cited these factors in relating to parent perceptions of full inclusion. Thus, an original contribution to research is made here.

Demographic Variables

The following three demographic factors appeared to be related to parent perceptions of full inclusion: the child's age, the severity of the child's disability, and the level of education in the home. First, a significant correlation was found between the child's age and parent view of full inclusion. That is, as the child's age increased, parents' view of full inclusion declined, suggesting that the older the child was, the more

likely his/her parent was to have a negative view of full inclusion. This finding is consistent with previous research which found parents of younger children to be more positive towards inclusion than parents of older children (Kasari et al., 1999; Leyser & Kirk, 2004). It is possible that full inclusion is viewed more positively by parents of younger children with disabilities because for many of these children the gap between their developmental level and that of their same age peers becomes wider with age. Thus, parents may begin to question the appropriateness of full inclusion for their child as he/she gets older and developmental differences become more apparent.

A second correlation was found between parents' level of education and preferred level of inclusion for their child. Parents who indicated higher levels of education in the home were more likely to prefer a full-time inclusion placement for their child. Lending validity to this finding, Leyser and Kirk (2004) found parents with higher education reported more benefits of inclusion than those with a high school education. Furthermore, Stolber et al. (1998) found that parents with higher levels of education rated their beliefs about inclusion as more positive than did those parents with less education. Possible reasons for this include that parents with higher levels of education likely have more access to information and opportunity to reflect on the benefits of full inclusion (Leyser & Kirk, 2004), which may influence their placement decisions.

Third, the severity of the child's disability was related to parents' perceived effectiveness of full inclusion. Namely, the more severe parents rated their child's disability, the less effective they believed full inclusion would be in meeting their child's needs. These results are consistent with those from other studies which found less support for inclusion from parents of children with severe disabilities (Leyser & Kirk, 2004; Palmer et al., 2001). There may be several reasons for this finding. First, parents of

children with more severe disabilities have reported that their child's needs could not be met in a classroom which emphasized curriculum that was increasingly academic in nature (Palmer et al., 2001). Certain medical conditions were also cited by parents which they felt would render the regular education classroom inappropriate for these children, such as severe sensory impairments, language impairments, and the presence of seizures or cerebral palsy (Palmer et al., 2001).

Level of Satisfaction with Educational Program and School Outcomes

The current study also sought to determine whether parents' experience in an inclusive school setting and evaluations of their experience would be related to their perceptions of full inclusion. Since preschool parents' had not yet had the experience of participating in an inclusive school setting, their views were not surveyed. Significant correlations were found between in-school parents' perceptions of full inclusion and level of satisfaction with their child's current educational program, as well as certain aspects of their child's school experience (e.g., their child's academic progress, and quality of social interactions with his/her peers). First, in-school parents' satisfaction with their child's current educational program was significantly related to their view of full inclusion and ratings of effectiveness. For example, parents who indicated they were not satisfied with their child's current educational program (n = 3) reported negative views of full inclusion and rated it as less effective overall.

In-school parents' view of full inclusion and ratings of effectiveness were also related to their level of satisfaction with the following variables: (a) the amount of time their child had individually with the teacher, (b) their child's academic progress, (c) the quality of their child's education, and (d) the quality of their child's social interactions

with his/her peers. As in-school parents' level of satisfaction with these variables increased, so did their ratings of effectiveness of full inclusion. As well, their views of full inclusion became more positive. Correlations among these variables suggest that parents' level of satisfaction with specific school outcomes for their child, relate to their overall view of full inclusion and how effective they perceive full inclusion to be. Additionally, in-school parents' preferred placement was related to their level of satisfaction with the acceptance of their child by other students. For example, all inschool parents who reported being very satisfied with the acceptance of their child by other students chose full-time inclusion placements for their child. Conversely, all inschool parents who reported being only somewhat satisfied with the acceptance of their child by other students chose part-time inclusion as their preferred placement. This finding suggests that the amount of time parents want their child to spend in a regular education classroom may be directly related to how they perceive their child to be accepted by other students. That is, the more satisfied parents are with the acceptance of their child by other students the more likely they will be to endorse full inclusion.

Although previous research (Kasari et al., 1999) has measured parent satisfaction with their child's current educational placement (i.e., general or special education), it has failed to examine the relationship between perceived satisfaction and perceptions of full inclusion. In general, the findings of the current study extend the literature base on parent perceptions of full inclusion by suggesting that experience in the school system may be a significant factor in informing parent perceptions of full inclusion.

Parent Values and Perceptions of Full Inclusion

It was suggested by Palmer et al. (1998) that parent perceptions of inclusion would vary depending on what outcomes they value most for their child. For example, while some parents appear to emphasize the socialization of their child in an educational setting, other parents seem most concerned with the quality of academic education their child will receive (Palmer et al., 1998). Authors further hypothesized that parents who place higher value on the socialization of their child will desire more inclusive placements for their children. A final purpose of the current study was to determine whether there is a relationship between parent perceptions of full inclusion and level of importance placed on various aspects of their child's educational experience. To examine this question parents were asked to rank, in order of importance, the following aspects of their child's educational experience: the positive socialization of their child with other students, the growth of their child's emotional development, and the quality of academic education their child receives.

Overall, parent values were not significantly related to their perceptions of full inclusion (i.e., view of full inclusion, ratings of effectiveness, and preferred level of full inclusion). However, certain patterns in parent responses that would suggest differences between these groups were evident. Whereas 71.4% of parents who placed the highest value on the positive socialization of their child reported positive views of full inclusion (n = 5), only 33.3% of parents who placed the highest value on their child's academic progress reported positive views (n = 2). Further, the value parents placed on either of these outcomes (i.e., socialization or academic progress) did not significantly impact their preferred level of inclusion for their child. That is, the majority of parents who placed the highest value on either the positive socialization of their child (n = 4) or their child's

academic progress (n = 4), also chose full-time inclusion placements for their children. When the third group was examined (i.e., parents who placed the highest value on their child's emotional development) (n = 4), 50% of these parents reported positive views. However, unlike the other two groups, the majority of parents who valued their child's emotional development most (n = 3), preferred part-time inclusion placements for their child. Parents who valued the socialization of their child most, also tended to report higher ratings of effectiveness, compared to parents who valued their child's academic progress and emotional development most.

These findings suggest that parents who value the socialization of their child most, may express more positive views of full inclusion and perceive it to be more effective, compared to parents who value academic or emotional outcomes more. However, in contrast to the proposition by Palmer et al. (1998), this does not influence parents' preferred level of inclusion for their child (e.g., three of seven parents who valued the positive socialization of their child most, preferred part-time inclusion placements for their child).

Limitations

Several limitations should be considered when interpreting the findings of the current study. First, the return rate for questionnaires was low, resulting in a relatively small sample size. Despite efforts to encourage parent participation, only 17 of 110 parents to whom the questionnaire was sent returned questionnaires. That is, 84.5% of parents to whom the questionnaire was sent did not participate in the study. Caution should therefore be taken in generalizing these findings to other parent populations.

Additionally, a small sample size limited data analysis to specific tests of significance. For example, comparisons across dimensions of disability type and severity could not be made reliably due to disproportionately small groups. A larger sample size with proportional groups is needed to verify the current study's findings and explore differences in parent views of full inclusion for children with varying types and severities of disability.

Next, careful consideration of the demographic characteristics of the sample should be given when interpreting results. Foremost, results are biased towards parents of children with autism spectrum disorder, as most parents in the study had children with this diagnosis (n = 12). The majority of parents also lived in dual parent households with an undergraduate degree as the highest level of education. Finally, data was gathered in an urban setting from a special population of parents who had children with disabilities and were receiving (or had received within the past year) early intervention from a community service provider. The views of participants in this study may therefore differ from other parent groups (e.g., parents who live in rural areas, have less education, and whose children have different types of disabilities).

Finally, it worthwhile to reiterate the current study examined parent perceptions of full inclusion and perceived impacts of this practice on their child with disabilities.

Rather, this study did not provide direct measures of student progress under inclusion in academic, social, emotional, or behavioural domains. Nor did it measure the responsiveness of educational factors to the individual needs of children with disabilities, such as curriculum, instruction, or availability of special resources. The results of this study must, therefore, be considered within the context of the literature on parent perceptions of inclusion. Considering the impact of full inclusion on children with

disabilities and influence of parents on educational reform, parent perceptions are instrumental in the inclusion debate. Thus, although direct evaluation of the impacts of full inclusion on children with disabilities unquestionably has its place in the inclusion literature, the role of parents has been emphasized in educational policy and their views must be accounted for.

Implications

Despite the limitations of the current study, the findings, coupled with support from other research, bear several implications for both the field of education and school psychology. First, data from the current study may support the ongoing inclusion of children with disabilities in the public education system by contributing to the development of special education policy. For example, it should be understood from a school system perspective that parent perceptions of full inclusion will vary. That is, not all parents of children with disabilities can be expected to desire the same level of inclusion for their child. However, the current policy of full inclusion in Nova Scotia threatens to leave little opportunity for parents to participate in the process of educational planning and decision-making for their children (e.g., deciding what level of inclusion would be best for their child). Further, in accordance with a policy of full inclusion, some schools do not provide alternative locations aside from the regular classroom for children with special needs to receive specialized services. Nor are they required to under current legislation. As demonstrated in the current study, negative views of full inclusion were associated with parents' feeling limited by the educational placement options available to their child. Therefore, expanding current policy to provide a range of inclusion options may be necessary to achieve parent support.

Additionally, rather than being determined strictly by policy, educational planning should be purposeful and directed by the individual needs of the student. To ensure students' needs are not overlooked, decisions regarding inclusion should be made collaboratively with parents. This view is supported by the Special Education Policy Manual of Nova Scotia (1997, p. 50):

Policy 3.1

Parents/guardians have a right to be involved and informed about their children's educational programs.

3.1 Guidelines

- Parents/guardians possess a wealth of knowledge and experience about the special needs of their children. As the primary advocates for their children, they have an obligation to take an active role in sharing this knowledge with the school. Their involvement in the program planning process can be invaluable in meeting individual needs.
- 2. Decisions about program planning and services should be reached by mutual agreement among team members including parents/guardians.

Moreover, provincial policy identifies school boards as being responsible for ensuring the active involvement of parents in the educational planning for students with special needs (Special Education Policy Manual, 1997). The role of professionals (e.g., school administrators, psychologists) in facilitating this process is emphasized here,

"[p]arents/guardians should be involved throughout all aspects of services for students with special needs, including identification, assessment, program planning and evaluation. Parents/guardians can... participate successfully; and make accurate developmental judgments about their children....The primary issue is not which roles family members take, but what roles are made available to families and how the choice of roles is facilitated by professionals." (as cited in the Special Education Policy Manual, Nova Scotia, 1997, p. 51)

As professionals within the school, school psychologists can facilitate this process in several ways, including: (a) providing education to parents and the school regarding issues related to inclusion, (b) providing consultation (e.g., consulting in school planning for children with special needs, transitioning these children from private service providers to public education, and accommodating these children in inclusive educational settings), (c) providing schools with information on current empirically-based practices for educating children with special needs in inclusive settings, and (d) supporting school personnel with the implementation, evaluation, and responsiveness of individual program plans (i.e., ensuring views of all participants are put forth and a plan to address concerns is constructed). In addition, school psychologists can also integrate a standardized method of evaluating parent perceptions regarding their child's educational program and progress in inclusive settings. This may be particularly important as a child matures, as parents have been found to have more negative perceptions of inclusion as their child gets older.

In conclusion, when planning for a child with special needs, careful consideration should be given to parent views of what is educationally best for their child. Perhaps most

integral to the role of a school psychologist is facilitating a relationship of 'true collaboration' between the family and school. Crais (1993) elaborates on what is meant by true collaboration as well as the benefits of this practice,

"[t]rue collaboration with families is not achieved quickly or easily. It requires astute observational skills, the ability to use self-reflection and self-analysis, the development of active listening skills, the ability to refrain from professionally directed solution generation, and, perhaps most of all, patience and flexibility. However, the benefits reaped from this type of collaboration are many and include improved family-professional relationships, increased understanding of the child and the family, increased participation of families in assessment and intervention planning, and higher levels of parent satisfaction." (as cited in the Special Education Policy Manual, Nova Scotia, 1997, p. 52)

REFERENCES

- Baker, E. T, Wang. M. C., & Walberg, H. J. (1994). The effects of inclusion on learning. *Educational Leadership*, 52(4), 33-35.
- Bennet, T., Deluca, D., & Bruns, D. (1997). Putting inclusion into practice: Perspectives of teachers and parents. *Exceptional Children*, *64*, 115-131.
- Borthwick-Duffy, S. A., Palmer, D. S., & Lane, K. L. (1996). One size doesn't fit all: Full inclusion and individual differences. *Journal of Behavioural Education*, *6*, 311-329.
- Brown, D. L. (1997). Full inclusion: Issues and challenges. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 24(1), 24-28.
- Cohen, J. (1977). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. New York:

 Academic Press.
- Cook, T., & Swain, J. (2001). Parents' perspectives on the closure of a special school: Towards inclusion in partnership. *Educational Review*, *53*(2), 191-198.
- Daniel, L. G., & King, D. A. (2001). Impact of inclusion education on academic achievement, student behaviour and self-esteem, and parental attitudes. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 91(2), 67-80.
- Davis, W. E. (1989). The regular education initiative debates: Its promises and problems. *Exceptional Children*, 55, 440-446.
- Florian, L. (2005). 'Inclusion', 'special needs' and the search for new understandings. Support for Learning, 20(2), 96-98.
- Fox, N. E., & Ysseldyke, J. E. (1997). Implementing inclusion at the middle school level: Lessons from a negative example. *Exceptional Children*, *64*, 81-98.

- Freeman, S. F., Alkin, M. C., & Kasari, C. (1999). Satisfaction and desire for change in educational placement for children with Down syndrome: Perceptions of parents.

 *Remedial and Special Education, 20(3), 143-151.
- Fuchs, D., & Fuchs, L. S. (1994). Inclusive schools movement and the radicalization of special education reform. *Exceptional Children*, *60*, 294-309.
- Fuchs, D., & Fuchs, L. S. (1998). Competing visions for educating students with disabilities: Inclusion versus full inclusion. *Childhood Education*, 74, 309-316.
- Gallagher, P. A., Floyd J. H., Stafford A. M., Taber, T. A., Brozovic, S. A., & Alberto, P.
 A. (2000). Inclusion of students with moderate or severe disabilities in education and community settings: Perspectives from parents and siblings. *Education and Training in Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities*, 35, 135-147.
- Gallagher, P. A., Rhodes, C. A., & Darling, S. M. (2004). Parents as professionals in early intervention: A parent educator model. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 24, 5-13.
- Gianfranco, M., Edelman, S., Cloninger, C., & Dennis, R. (1993). My child has a classmate with severe disabilities: What parents of non-disabled children think about inclusion. *Developmental Disabilities Bulletin*, 21(7), 77-91.
- Green, A., & Stone man, Z. (1989). Attitudes of mothers and fathers of non-handicapped children. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *13*, 292-304.
- Grove, K. A., & Fisher, D. (1999). Entrepreneurs of meaning: Parents and the process of inclusive education. *Remedial and Special Education*, 20(4), 208-215.
- Kasari, C., Freeman, S., Bumming, N., & Alkin, M. C. (1999). Parental perspectives on inclusion: Effects of autism and Down syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 29(4), 297-305.

- Kavale, K. A., & Forness, S. R. (2000). History, rhetoric, and reality: Analysis of inclusion debate. *Remedial and Special Education*, *21*, 279-296.
- Kniveton, H. B. (2004). A study of perceptions that significant others hold of the inclusion of children with difficulties in mainstream classes. *Educational Studies*, 30(3), 331-343.
- Leyser, Y., & Kirk, R. (2004). Evaluating inclusion: An examination of parent views and factors influencing their perspectives. *International Journal of Disability*,

 Development, and Education, 51(3), 271-285.
- Nova Scotia Department of Education and Culture (1996). *Special education policy manual*. Halifax, Nova Scotia: Author.
- Osgood, R. L. (2005). *The history of inclusion in the united states*. Washington, DC: Gallaudet University Press.
- Palmer, D., Borthwick-Duffy, S., & Widaman, K. (1998). Parent perceptions of inclusive practices for their children with significant cognitive disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 2, 271-282.
- Palmer, D. S., Fuller, K., Arora, T., & Nelson, M. (2001). Taking sides: Parent views on inclusion for their children with severe disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 67(4), 467-484.
- Peck, C., Carlson, P., & Helmstetter, E. (1992). Parent and teacher perceptions of outcomes for typically-developing children enrolled in integrated early childhood programs: A state-wide. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *16*, 53-63.
- Peck, C., Schwartz, I., Staub, D., Gallucci, C., White, O., & Billingsley, F. (1996).

 Outcomes of inclusion for children with severe disabilities: A four-year follow-

- *along study*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps. New Orleans, LA.
- Peck, C., Staub, D., Gallucci, C., & Schwartz, I. (2004). Parent perception of the impacts of inclusion on their nondisabled child. *Research & Practice for Persons with*Severe Disabilities, 29(2), 135-143.
- Phillips, N. B., Fuchs, L. S., & Fuchs, D. (1994). Effects of classwide curriculum-based measurement and peer tutoring: A collaborative researcher-practitioner interview study. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 27(7), 420-434.
- Roberts, R., & Mather, N. (1995). The return of students with learning disabilities to regular classrooms: A sellout? *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 10(1), 46-58.
- Scruggs, T., & Mastropieri, M. (1996). Teacher perceptions of mainstreaming/inclusion, 1958-1995: A research synthesis. *Exceptional Children*, 63 (1), 59-74.
- Sharpe, M. N., York, J. L., & Knight, J. (1994). Effects of inclusion on the academic performance of classmates without disabilities: A preliminary study. *Remedial and Special Education*, *15*(5), 281-287.
- Soodak, L. C., & Erwin, E. J. (1995). Parents, professionals, and inclusive education: A call for collaboration. *Journal of Educational & Psychological Consultation*, 6(3), 257-276.
- Stevens, J. (1996). *Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences* (3rd ed.).

 Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Stolber, K., C., Gettinger, M., & Goetz, D. (1998). Exploring factors influencing parents' and early childhood practitioners' beliefs about inclusion. *Early Childhood research Quarterly*, *13*(1), 107-124.

- Turnbull, R., Turnbull, A., Shank, M., Smith, S., & Leal, D. (2002). *Exceptional lives:*Special education in today's schools (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill.
- Valentine, F. (2001). Enabling citizenship: Full inclusion of children with disabilities and their parents. Ottawa; Canadian Policy Research Networks Discussion Paper No. F13.
- Vaughn, S., Schumm, J. S., Jallad, B., Slusher, J., & Saumell, L. (1996). Teachers' views of inclusion. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 11, 96-106.
- Zinkil, S. S., & Gilbert, T. S. (2000). Parents' view: What to consider when contemplating inclusion. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *35*, 224-227.

APPENDIX A: LETTER OF INFORMED CONSENT – DIRECTOR

"Parent Perceptions of Full Inclusion for their Children with Disabilities"

Dear Parent,

My name is Meggan Cooper and I am currently completing my Master of Arts degree in School Psychology at Mount Saint Vincent University. I kindly request your participation in my thesis research project. My study is aimed at exploring parent views of full inclusion in the school system. Full inclusion refers to children with and without disabilities being educated in the same classroom where all specialized instruction occurs on a full-time basis. As the Director of a school for children with special needs, you no doubt witness the importance of parent perspectives of their children's educational inclusion. I would like to know about their views on a range of issues related to full inclusion, including whether they feel full inclusion is the best option for their son/daughter with disabilities and what level of inclusion they would prefer for their child. In this study, you will be asked to distribute the attached questionnaire to parents/guardians of children who attend your school. It will take approximately 15 minutes to complete the questionnaire. Findings from this study will help schools understand the challenges and benefits of full inclusion as identified by parents/guardians of children with disabilities, and will assist schools in being more responsive to their needs.

Your participation and the participation of parents/guardians in this project are voluntary. I do not foresee any risks to you, parents/guardians, or your students as a result of participating. If there is a question or section of the questionnaire that makes a parent feel uncomfortable, they do not have to complete this question or section. Also, you and parents/guardians may withdraw from this study without any reason at any point without consequence. Every effort will be made to ensure anonymity of the school and all participants. The Informed Consent Forms along with all completed questionnaires will first be directed to my supervisor, Dr. Derek H. Berg who will be responsible for protecting the anonymity of the school and participants. Prior to delivering completed questionnaires to me, Dr. Berg will delete any information within the questionnaires that could be used to identify the school or any participant. As well, only he will have access to the Informed Consent Forms and he will secure these in a locked location. Only the study's researcher and her thesis supervisor will have access to completed questionnaires. Completed questionnaires will be destroyed five years following completion of the written results of the study, expected to be September, 2008. Upon completion of the study, a summary of the findings will be made available to the project are published, all information will be anonymous so that no identification of any of the participants or the _____ will be possible.

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact my supervisor for this research project, Dr.

Derek H. Berg, by phone at 902-457-6734 or by enquestions or concerns about how this study is being not directly involved in the study, you may contact by phone at 902-457-6350 or by e-mail at research	g conducted and wish to speak with someone who is the Chair of the University Research Ethics Board,
If you agree to participate in this study, please c form, you are indicating that you fully understand t this study. Please keep one letter for your records.	, , ,
Thank you for your time and consideration,	
Meggan Cooper	
Name (please print):	Signature:

APPENDIX B: LETTER OF INFORMED CONSENT - PARENT

"Parent Perceptions of Full Inclusion for their Children with Disabilities"

Dear Parent,	
My name is Meggan Cooper and I am currently completed Psychology at Mount Saint Vincent University. In conjunkindly request your participation in my thesis research proviews of full inclusion in the school system. Full inclusion disabilities being educated in the same classroom where a time basis. As parents/guardians, your opinions are valual range of issues related to full inclusion, including whether your son/daughter with disabilities or what level of inclusionstudy, you will be asked to complete the attached question minutes to complete. Findings from this study will help submediate to full inclusion as identified by parents/guardians schools in being more responsive to their needs.	nction with the
Your participation in this project is voluntary. I do not for of participating. If there is a question or section of the queuncomfortable, you do not have to complete this question this study without any reason at any point without consequence study will have no bearing on your child's standing at the made to ensure anonymity of participants. The Informed questionnaire will first be directed to my supervisor, Dr. In protecting the anonymity of participants. Prior to deliver will delete any information within the questionnaires that well, only he will have access to the Informed Consent Follocation. Only the study's researcher and her thesis super questionnaires. Completed questionnaires will be destroy written results of the study, expected to be September, 20 summary of the findings will be made available to the are published, all information will be anonymous so that the will be possible.	estionnaire that makes you feel a or section. Also, you may withdraw from quence. Participation or withdrawal from the a Every effort will be Consent Forms along with your completed Derek H. Berg who will be responsible for ng completed questionnaires to me, Dr. Berg could be used to identify any participant. As forms and he will secure these in a locked visor will have access to completed ed five years following completion of the 108. Upon completion of the study, a If results of this project
If you have any questions or concerns, please contact my Derek H. Berg, by phone at 902-457-6734 or by email at questions or concerns about how this study is being condenot directly involved in the study, you may contact the Cl by phone at 902-457-6350 or by e-mail at research@msv	derek.berg@msvu.ca. If you have any ucted and wish to speak with someone who is hair of the University Research Ethics Board,
If you agree to participate in this study, please completer, you are indicating that you fully understand the about this study. Please keep one letter for your records.	
Please put this completed form and questionnaire in the enclosed and send directly to Dr. Derek H. Berg.	he preaddressed stamped envelope
Thank you for your time and consideration,	
Meggan Cooper	
Name (please print):	Signature:

APPENDIX C: PRESCHOOL QUESTIONNAIRE

Parent Views of Full Inclusive Education Questionnaire - Preschool

The purpose of this questionnaire is to gather information about your views on your child's future experiences in a full inclusion classroom in the school system. Full inclusion refers to children with and without disabilities being educated in the same classroom where all specialized instruction occurs on a full-time basis. Your participation in this study is voluntary. If you wish to participate, please sign one of the Letters of Informed Consent, complete the following questionnaire, and return both in the enclosed stamped envelope. It should take you approximately 15 minutes to complete the questionnaire. Please feel free not to answer any question that makes you feel uncomfortable.

que	estionnaire. Please feel free n	ot to answer	any question t	hat makes y	ou feel un	comfortal	ole.
Se	ction 1: Background inform	<u>nation</u>					
1.	What is your son's/daughter	r's age?		2. Is ye	our child:	Male	Female
3.	What type of disability or di	sabilities doe	s your child h	ave (please	print)?		
4.	Please rate the severity of ye	our child's dis	sability:				
1	2	3	4	5			
	Mild	Moderate		S	evere		
5.	What services have you or y	our child reco	eived from the	e	(plo	ease print)?
6.	How long have you received	d services from	m the	?			
7.	What is the highest level of	education in	your home?				
A.	Some High School		D. So	me Undergr	aduate Co	urses	
B.	High School or GED Comp	oletion	E. Un	dergraduate	Degree (e	.g., BA, F	3Sc)
C.	Vocational/Community Col	llege	F. Gra	iduate Degr	ee (e.g., M	A, PhD)	
8.	Is this a single parent family	? Yes	No				
<i>If</i> y	es, is the primary caregiver:	Mother	Father	Other: (p	lease print))	
9.	How many children are in y	our family? _					
10.	How many of your childre	n have a disal	oility?				

Section 2: Outcomes for Your Son/Daughter

11. Please indicate whether you think each of the following would increase or decrease as a result of your child being in a full inclusion classroom, rather than in a class where most teaching and support occurs outside the classroom (i.e., resource, or learning centre).

	Decrease Substantially	Decrease Slightly	Stay the Same	Increase Slightly	Increase Substantially
The amount of time my child has individually with the teacher, will	1	2	3	4	5
My child's academic progress, will	1	2	3	4	5
The quality of my child's education, will	1	2	3	4	5
My child's positive feelings about himself/herself, will	1	2	3	4	5
In general, the quality of the social interactions between my child and his/her peers, will	1	2	3	4	5
The acceptance of my child by other students, will	1	2	3	4	5

Section 3: General Impact of Classroom Practices

The following questions ask for your views regarding how a range of inclusive classroom practices will impact your child (please circle one).

- **12.** In a full inclusion classroom, the curriculum (the *content* that is taught):
- A. Will be adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter
- B. Will not be adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter
- C. I am unsure if it will be adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter
- **13.** In a full inclusion classroom, the instruction (*how* the content is taught):
- A. Will be adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter
- B. Will not be adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter
- C. I am unsure if it will be adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter
- **14.** In a full inclusion classroom, the social environment:
- A. Will be accepting of my son/daughter
- B. Will not be accepting of my son/daughter
- C. I am unsure if it will be accepting of my son/daughter

	Will be nurtured Will not be nurtured
	I am unsure if it will be nurtured
	In a full inclusion classroom, the availability of special staff resources (specialists/instructional es):
B.	Will be adequate to meet the needs of my child Will not be adequate to meet the needs of my child I am unsure if the resources will be adequate to meet the needs of my child
Sec	etion 4: Summary Evaluation
17.	In general, what is your view of full inclusion in schools?
A.	Positive B. Neutral C. Negative
18.	If you had the choice, would you want your child to be placed in a full inclusion classroom?
A.	Full-time B. Part-time (hours per day) C. Not at all
	In general, how effective do you feel a full inclusion classroom will be in meeting the needs of ar child?
	1 2 3 4 5
	Not Effective Very Effective
Ple	ase indicate any needs your child has that you feel would not be met in a full inclusion classroom.
	In order of importance, please rank the following aspects of your child's future educational perience: 1 (most important) to 3 (least important). Use each number only once.
	The positive socialization of my child with other students
	The growth of my child's emotional development
	The quality of academic education my child will receive
	ase indicate any other aspect of your child's future educational experience that you feel is portant.

15. In a full inclusion classroom, the emotional development of my son/daughter:

21. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with the statements below:

	Strongly <u>Disagree</u>	<u>Disagree</u>	Neither Agree nor <u>Disagree</u>	<u>Agree</u>	Strongly Agree
I trust the school to place my child in a classroom that will be most effective	1	2	3	4	5
My child's <i>academic</i> needs can be met <i>best</i> in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
My child's <i>social</i> needs can be met <i>best</i> in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
My child's <i>emotional</i> needs can be met <i>best</i> in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
My child's <i>behavioural</i> needs can be met <i>best</i> in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
I am concerned that my child will be too behaviorally disruptive in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
I am concerned for my child's safety if he/she were in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
I am concerned about the class size of a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
Full inclusion is more appropriate in elementary than in junior high or high school	1	2	3	4	5
It is necessary to routinely withdraw my child from the regular classroom to receive specialized instruction or services	1	2	3	4	5
I feel limited by the educational placement options available to my child	1	2	3	4	5

Please comment on any additional information regarding your views of full inclusion, or if there is any information you want schools to know that would help support children with disabilities at school (please use additional space below or on the reverse side of this form if required).	

Thank you for completing this questionnaire

APPENDIX D: IN-SCHOOL QUESTIONNAIRE

Parent Views of Full Inclusive Education Questionnaire - In-School

The purpose of this questionnaire is to gather information about your views on your child's experiences in a full inclusion classroom in the school system. Full inclusion refers to children with and without disabilities being educated in the same classroom where all specialized instruction occurs on a full-time basis. Your participation in this study is voluntary. If you wish to participate, please sign one of the Letters of Informed Consent, complete the following questionnaire, and return both in the enclosed stamped envelope. It should take you approximately 15 minutes to complete the questionnaire. Please feel free not to answer any question that makes you feel uncomfortable.

Se	ction 1: Background inform	ation_			
1.	What is your son's/daughter'	s age?	2. Is your c	hild: Male	Female
3.	What grade is your son/daug	hter in?			
4.	What type of disability or dis	abilities does your	child have (please p	orint)?	
5.	Please rate the severity of yo	ur child's disability	/:		
	1	2	3 4	5	
	Mild	Mod	lerate	Severe	
5.	Is your child currently enrolled	ed in a full inclusio	on classroom?	Yes	No
	If no, what type of educe	ution classroom is y	your child in:		
7.	Is your child receiving any sp	pecial services at so	chool (e.g., resource	, speech therapy)	?
	Yes		No		
	If yes, what type of servi	ces does your child	l receive and how o	ften:	
3.	Are you satisfied with your c	hild's current educ	ational program?	Yes	No

11.	What i	s the highest level of educati	on in your ho	me?	
	В.	Some High School		D.	Some Undergraduate Courses
	B. High School or GED Completion			E.	Undergraduate Degree (e.g., BA, BSc)
	C.	Vocational/Community Co	llege	F.	Graduate Degree (e.g., MA, PhD)
12.	Is this	a single parent family?	Yes	No	
	If yes,	is the primary caregiver:	Mother	Father	Other: (please print)
13.	How n	nany children are in your fan	ily?		
14.	How n	nany of your children have a	disability? _		

Section 2: Outcomes for Your Son/Daughter

15. Since your child started school, please indicate your level of satisfaction with the following:

	Not Satisfied	Somewhat Satisfied	<u>Very</u> Satisfied
The amount of time my child has individually with the teacher	1	2	3
My child's academic progress	1	2	3
The quality of my child's education	1	2	3
My child's emotional development	1	2	3
In general, the quality of the social interactions between my child and his/her peers	1	2	3
The acceptance of my child by other students	1	2	3

Section 3: General Impact of Classroom Practices

The following questions ask for your views regarding how a range of inclusive classroom practices have impacted your child (please circle one).

- **16.** In my child's current classroom placement, the curriculum (the *content* that is taught):
 - A. Has been adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter
 - B. Has not been adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter
 - C. I am unsure if it has been adapted to meet the individual needs of my son/daughter

17. In my	child's current clas	sroom placeme	nt, the instructi	on (how the cor	ntent is taught):
Δ	Has been adapted	to meet the ind	lividual needs o	of my son/daugh	nter
	Has not been adapted				
	I am unsure if it h			•	C
		•			
40 T	1211	1			
18. In my	child's current clas	sroom placeme	nt, the social er	ivironment:	
Δ	Has been accepting	o of my son/da	ughter		
	Has not been acce				
	I am unsure if it h			aughter	
10 In my	child's current clas	sroom nlaceme	nt the emotion	al develonment	of my son/daughter:
17. In my	cinia s current cias	sroom placeme	int, the emotion	ur de veropinent	of my som dadgmer.
A.	Has been nurtured	l			
	Has not been nurt				
C.	I am unsure if it h	as been nurture	d		
20. In my	child's current clas	sroom placeme	nt, the availabil	lity of special st	aff resources
	alists/instructional		,	, ,	
		_		_	
	Has been adequat		-		
	Has not been adec	•	•		do of my obild
C.	I am unsure if the	resources nave	been adequate	to meet the nee	us of my child
Section 4:	Summary Evaluat	<u>ion</u>			
				_	
21. In general	eral, what is your vi	ew of full inclu	sion in schools	?	
	A. Positive		B. Neutral		C. Negative
	A. Fositive		D. Neutrai		C. Negative
22. If you	had the choice, wou	ld you want yo	our child to be p	laced in a full i	nclusion classroom?
	A. Full-time	B. Pa	rt-time (hours per day)	C. Not at all
23. In gene	eral how effective o	lo vou feel a fu	ll inclusion clas	ssroom has beer	n in meeting the needs of
your c		io you reer a ra	ir merusion eta.	,sroom nas coo	i in meeting the needs of
•					
	1	2	3	4	5
N	lot Effective				Very Effective
	indicate any needs	our child has t	hat you feel hav	ve not been met	in a full inclusion
classro	om.				

1 (most important) to 3 (least important). Use each number only once.					
The positive socialization of my child with other students The growth of my child's emotional development					
The grawith of academic education my child will receive					
Please indicate any other aspect of your child's educational experience that you feel is important.					

25. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with the statements below:

	Strongly <u>Disagree</u>	<u>Disagree</u>	Neither Agree nor <u>Disagree</u>	Agree	Strongly Agree
I trust that the school has placed my child in a classroom that will be most effective	1	2	3	4	5
My child's <i>academic</i> needs can be met <i>best</i> in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
My child's <i>social</i> needs can be met <i>best</i> in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
My child's <i>emotional</i> needs can be met <i>best</i> in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
My child's <i>behavioural</i> needs can be met <i>best</i> in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
I am concerned that my child is too behaviourally disruptive in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
I am concerned for my child's safety in a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
I am concerned about the class size of a full inclusion classroom	1	2	3	4	5
Full inclusion is more appropriate in elementary than in junior high or high school	1	2	3	4	5

It is necessary to routinely withdraw my child from the regular classroom to receive specialized instruction or services	1	2	3	4	5
I feel limited by the educational placement options available to my child	1	2	3	4	5
Please comment on any additional infor is any information you want schools to school (please use additional space belo	know that	would help s	support children	with disabilit	

Thank you for completing this questionnaire.